

Cleveland Teachers Union

Local 279

Tentative Agreement

February 13, 2017

Part 1 of 2

Articles and Sections not contained in this Tentative Agreement remain unchanged. Please refer to your 2013 - 2016 Collective Bargaining Agreement for current language.

Bold denotes new language.
Strikethrough denotes removal of language.
Rationale is in italics.

Housekeeping:

The parties agree that all references in the CBA to K-8 should be changed to PreK-8.

ARTICLE 2 - UNION REPRESENTATION

Section 3. Selection of Union Representatives and Representation at Meetings.

A. Selection and Notification of Union Representatives.

1. **Effective with the 2017-18 school year, for the purposes of the Collective Bargaining Agreement, including the selection and notification of union representation, a “school” is defined as having its own IRN number. Special groups that are not assigned to a particular school (e.g. psychologists, nurses, paraprofessionals, etc.) will continue to have Chapter Chairpersons to represent those groups. The provisions in this Article apply to all Chapter Chairpersons for high schools, K-8 schools, elementary schools, and special groups.**

Rationale: This clarifies how schools are defined and how members in those schools are represented.

2. The Union members in each **building chapter** shall have the exclusive right to choose their **building chapter** representatives (Chapter Chairperson and Conference Committee) according to the provisions of the Constitution and By-laws of the Union.

2. When there is no Chapter Chairperson, the Union President shall designate one or shall act directly for the **building chapter** until such time as a chairperson shall be elected.

3. The Union shall notify the Principal/Administrator and CEO of the names of the Union representatives in his/her **building chapter**.

4. In each ~~high school~~ building/campus/complex housing more than one (1) ~~small high school, there shall be one Chapter Chairperson.~~ **where the schools share extra-curricular resources (e.g., athletic teams, clubs, etc.), the Chapter Chairpersons and an administrator from each of the affected schools will serve in the leadership roles for decisions involving those shared resources.** ~~Each Chapter at that worksite shall elect an Assistant Chairperson for each individual small school. The Chapter Chairperson and Assistant Chairpersons shall constitute the UCC of each worksite. Additional UCC members may be elected as per CTU Constitution, Article 15, Section 2.~~

Rationale: Principals and chapter chairs for all schools on a shared campus will be part of the personnel selection team for shared personnel.

C. Chapter Chairpersons.

5. Each high school ~~building/campus/complex housing more than one (1) small high school will be considered a worksite.~~ the Chapter Chairperson at worksites ~~with more than one (1) small school~~ shall be provided unassigned time as per Article 2, Section 3(C)(4) and shall have no homeroom as per Article 9, Section 4.H. 1. Chapter Chairperson unassigned time will be allocated as per Article 2,

Section 3 (C)(4). For block scheduling schools this means a one (1) block instructional period for the entire year. ~~The Assistant Chairpersons at worksites with more than one (1) small school shall have no homeroom.~~ For the purpose of Article 2, Section 3 (C)(5), block scheduling is limited to schools having either 4x4 or A/B model of block scheduling ~~with all 80 to 90 minute instructional periods.~~

Section 4. Union Conference Committee (UCC).

A. Building administrators and the Union Conference Committee (UCC) are held responsible for carrying out the terms and conditions of this Agreement in their ~~building chapter.~~

ARTICLE 3 - PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS

Section 3. CTU Bargaining Unit Employee Information.

B. Web-based CTU Bargaining Unit Employee Information

Effective with the implementation of the HRIS/FIN system the following information will be available to the CTU electronically by:

1. Employee name
2. Current home address and phone number
3. Employee number
4. Work site
5. Position
6. Employees whose union dues are being collected through District payroll deduction will be identified.

C. Upon implementation of the HRIS/FIN System, paragraph B will govern access to the CTU Bargaining Unit Employee Information.

~~Section 8. Direct Deposit of Payroll Check.~~

Rationale: This is new contract language to streamline the exchange of information between CTU and CMSD.

~~The Board shall offer the opportunity to utilize direct deposit. An employee may elect to split the total amount of the payroll check between two financial institutions or two accounts at the same institution. These can include banks, credit unions, brokerage firms, or any financial institution that has a routing number and the employee has an account.~~

Rationale: This section has been modified and moved to Article 30 to reflect current pay practices. [Modified and replace Article 30, Section 5 B (1), see below.]

New Language for Article 30, Section 5(B)(1) :

Compensation for all employees will be deposited to either the employee's banking account through an Electronic Fund Transfer (EFT) or posted to a PayCard or a combination of both. Employees may elect to split the total amount of their paycheck to multiple accounts in up to a total of five financial institutions, including banks, credit unions, brokerage firms, and any other institutions that have a routing number and for which the employee has an account. All employees must provide Human Resources with a current home address and phone number.

ARTICLE 5 - ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENT PLANS

A. *No change*

B. The AAP may not conflict with any language in the collective bargaining agreement except as provided in **J I** below.

C. The Core Planning Team will develop, if necessary, or review and modify/ revise the AAP annually. The Core Planning Team shall consist of: the building Principal (no designee), the CTU Chapter Chairperson (no designee), a parent of a child attending the school, and three to five **classroom teachers Bargaining Unit Members (which can include a paraprofessional)**. The Core Planning Team may invite additional individuals to support and assist the Team.

Rationale: Paraprofessionals added to the AAP team.

D. *No change*

E. The AAP will be written by the Core Planning Team on a template developed and approved by a joint CMSD/CTU committee **no later than February 1st for the Spring AAP draft**. The template shall include each school's academic goals, related goals, e.g., attendance and customer service, and a budget page including estimated allocation.

F. Time Line.

1. The Time Line for presenting the Spring draft AAP: The Core Planning Team shall present the Spring draft AAP to the Bargaining Unit Members by **the first Friday in March May 15th. For new schools, prior to opening, the design plan, to include the master schedule, shall be presented to and reviewed by the Joint Committee on School Schedules per Article 9, Section 4 to provide appropriate feedback regarding potential contractual concerns. The new school's initial AAP will be presented in the Spring of the first year of operation for the new school.** Voting must be completed no later than the second Friday in March ~~May 23rd~~. AAPs must be submitted to the CAO no later than **the following Monday May 24th**.
2. The Time Line for presenting the final draft AAP: the Core Planning Team shall present the final draft AAP to the Bargaining Unit Members **no later than the first day of student instruction by September 15th**. Voting must be completed and AAPs must be **submitted to the CAO within one week no later than September 23rd. AAPs must be submitted to the CAO no later than September 24th.**

Rationale: The AAP timeline has been updated to reflect an earlier start and end of the school year.

A procedure for new school's design plan and AAPs has been established.

G. *No change*

H. District Approval.

1. District Approval Time Line for Spring draft AAP: the Core Planning Team will forward the building level approved Spring draft AAP to the CMSD Chief Academic Officer (CAO). The CAO will review and approve or reject, as a whole, the Spring draft AAP. If rejected, the AAP, with written reasons for rejection will be returned by the CAO to the school's Core Planning Team for review and revision. The President of the CTU will also be notified in writing of any rejected AAP and the reasons for rejection. All schools' Core Planning Teams and the CTU President will be notified of approval or

rejection no later than **April 15. ~~the last Bargaining Unit Member working day in June.~~**

2. *No change*

3. *No change*

4. In the event a school fails to approve an AAP, or further, if a school fails to present a revised AAP that is satisfactory to the CAO, then the CAO and the President of the CTU will meet with the staff **prior to May 15. The meeting will be held during the workday and staff will be expected to attend.** If after the meeting, the school still fails to approve an AAP or fails to present a revised AAP that is satisfactory to the CAO, then the CAO and CTU President shall mutually agree upon an AAP to be implemented at the school.

I. No Change

J. No Change

K. In the event the Core Planning Team is unable to meet the timelines set forth in paragraphs C, E, F, and/or J, above or the school is not able to approve an AAP prior to the last teacher workday, the CTU President/designee and the CAO/designee will work with the Core Planning Team toward a solution. In the interim, the prior AAP will remain in effect until the CTU President/designee and the CAO/designee are able to reach agreement on an AAP to be implemented at the start of the school year.

L. For the 2017-18 school year only, all schools must write a new AAP and the language in Section K above does not apply. In the Spring of 2017, Core Planning Teams will meet a minimum of two (2) times with a committee of CTU and CMSD representatives, appointed by the CTU President and CEO respectively, to aid in the writing of the initial AAPs. In the Fall of 2017, Core Planning Teams will meet a minimum of one (1) time with a committee of CTU and CMSD representatives, appointed by the CTU President and CEO respectively, to aid in the Fall revision of the initial AAPs.

M. Formerly K: No Change

ARTICLE 6 - PROBLEM RESOLUTION, GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE AND TIME LIMITS

Section 12. Timely Grievance Answer Notification

The district Step 2 representative and/or the district Step 3 hearing officer(s) shall electronically notify the CTU Director(s) of Grievances of Step 2 and Step 3 grievance answers within the timelines set forth in this Article. The appropriate district departments will also be notified of the grievance answer in order to facilitate compliance with the grievance answer.

The district and union will jointly determine, if necessary, any communication plan in order to implement the results of a mediation, arbitration, or settlement of any grievance.

Rationale: The change allows information to be sent electronically to increase efficiency.

ARTICLE 9 - SCHOOL SCHEDULES, MEETINGS & CALENDARS

Section 2. School Start Times.

A. School Start Time.

1. Beginning with the ~~2013-2014~~ 2016-2017 school year, all teachers except as noted in paragraph 2 below will have a 440 minute school day (**400 minute student instructional day, with 200 minutes of professional time weekly as defined below**). Each day shall include:

Rationale: Memorializes current practice

- 10 minutes of unassigned time before start of instructional day*;
- 40 minute uninterrupted duty free lunch;
- 1 planning period (at K-8, fifty (50) minutes) during each student instructional day;
- **200 minutes per week of which 100 minutes will be “administrator designed time” (as defined below) and 100 minutes of self-designed “teacher time” (as defined below);**

~~All additional extended time will be used for professional time (as defined below).~~

Rationale: Equally divides 200 minutes between administrators and individual teachers. Allows for 200 minutes to be pushed into an extended student day through the AAP.

2. Teachers at Louisa May Alcott ~~and Cleveland School for the Arts Lower Campus (Dike)~~ will be exempt from the 10 minutes unassigned time at the start of the instructional day noted in paragraph 1, above, and will maintain the building substitutes as follows:

Enrollment up to 300	1 Building Sub
Enrollment 301 – 600	2 Building Subs
Enrollment 600+	3 Building Subs

Participation in the additional professional time is mandatory and members are expected to fully participate in the professional experiences that are relevant to their position. **Effective with the 2017-18 school year, this professional time will be scheduled immediately before or after the student school day, Monday through Thursday in fifty (50) minute increments unless a different time frame is approved via the Academic Achievement Plan (AAP). Through the AAP process, schools may also schedule the professional time within an extended student day. The AAP will outline which days are reserved for teacher self-designed professional activities. This professional time will be reflected in the school’s master schedule.**

The 100 minutes of the teacher self-designed professional time shall be reserved for professional activities as outlined below and shall not be assigned by the administration. The Principal, Chapter Chairperson, and Academic Progress Team (APT) (Appendix Q) are responsible for seeking input from staff **to align administrator designed professional activities**

to meet the needs of the building staff. This input will be considered by the administration when scheduling the 100 minutes of administrator designed time for professional activities as outlined below. The parties recognize that reasonable modifications to the scheduled professional activities may be required. These are allowable after consultation with the APT. ~~and establishing the schedule for the standing formal commitments (i.e. Student Support Team (SST), department meetings, faculty meetings, professional development (PD)) while ensuring sufficient professional time remains for more individualized experiences (i.e. IEP meetings, office hours, record keeping).~~ The parties recognize that reasonable modifications to the scheduled professional activities may be required. No fewer than 50 minutes of the additional time shall be reserved for individual professional activities and no fewer than 50 minutes of the additional time shall be reserved for collaborative professional activities, with the balance of the additional time being scheduled by the APT. A school may propose flexible uses of the additional professional time (equivalent to 200 min. per week) in its approved AAP consistent with this paragraph. For example, an approved AAP may reflect use of the additional time by scheduling 50 minutes of professional time over 4 days vs 40 minutes over 5 days.

The 100 minutes of administrator designed time shall be used for:

- 1. Team Time (which can include grade level teams, committee meetings, vertical planning, and must include state mandated programs or initiatives such as Teacher Based Teams)**
- 2. General Collaboration**
- 3. Professional Development**
- 4. Student Support Team (SST)**
- 5. New Program**
- 6. Professional Learning Community**
- 7. Faculty Meeting (The Union shall have input into the agenda of the meeting. The last ten (10) minutes of the meeting shall be devoted to Union business.)**
- 8. Individual teacher meetings/conferences.**

The 100 minutes of teacher designed time shall not be designed or directed by administrators and shall be used for:

- 1. Office Hours**
- 2. Record Keeping**
- 3. Parent Conferences**
- 4. IEP/ ETR/ 504 Plans**
- 5. General Collaboration**
- 6. Planning**

~~Professional activities will be consistent with the following or as outlined in the school's approved AAP:~~

- ~~1. Professional Learning Community (PLC)~~
- ~~2. Team Time (PLC team, vertical team, horizontal team)~~
- ~~3. Office Hours~~
- ~~4. Committee Meetings~~
- ~~5. Parent Conferences~~

- 6. ~~PD & Training~~
- 7. ~~New Programs~~
- 8. ~~Record Keeping~~
- 9. ~~Vertical Planning~~
- 10. ~~IEP~~
- 11. ~~SST~~
- 12. ~~General Collaboration~~
- 13. ~~Interventions~~
- 14. ~~Meeting with new students~~
- 15. ~~Faculty meeting. (The Union shall have input as to the agenda of the meeting. The last ten (10) minutes of the meeting shall be devoted to Union business.)~~

If a school's calendar exceeds the standard workday or work year, appropriate compensation will be determined consistent with Article 30 ~~and the Cleveland Differentiated Compensation System ("CDCS") MOU, Appendix R.~~

No teacher's current salary will be reduced as a result of this standard workday if the teacher's assignment remains unchanged. Upon ratification of the new contract, teachers accepting assignments to schools that operate outside of the standard workday will be compensated as described above.

* The ten (10) minute report time does not include the following bargaining unit members as their work day is 7 hours and 45 minutes: paraprofessionals, sign language/educational interpreters, and other classified employees.

Section 4. School Schedule.

A. Joint Committee on School Schedules – The CEO and CTU President shall each appoint three (3) members to the Joint Committee on School Schedules. The committee will review and problem-solve identified schedule concerns in order to allow schools to incorporate changes into their AAPs. ~~There will be~~ The committee will conduct an annual review in May by the CEO or designee and a CTU committee to discuss the structure of the school day and implementation of schedules in grades K-12. In order to meet the needs of the school model, the committee will consider the use of the AAP process. Where that is not feasible, the committee will consider the use of an MOU to meet the objectives of the desired schedule.

Rationale: Establishes a joint committee to review and problem solve school schedules.

B.-F. 6 *No change*

F. School Day Scheduling (Elementary/PreK-8).

Rationale: Distinguishes between K-8/9-12 scheduling

7 Beginning with the 2017-2018 school year, K – 8 ESP classes must be scheduled to meet a minimum of twelve (12) periods in a semester or twenty-four (24) periods in a year, between pre and post assessment for Student Growth Measure purposes. If the district fails to comply with this requirement, the Student Growth Measure default language in Article 13 will apply. At the end of the 2017-2018 school year, this section may be revised if, no later than February 1, 2018, either the CTU or the District request that this be revisited. In the event modifications are agreed

upon, the modifications will be specified through an MOU.

Rationale: Ensures ESP classes meet for a minimum number of times to count for SGM.

G. School Day 9-12 Scheduling (9-12)

1. Definitions

- a. Preparations – Preparations are instructional assignments for which grades and/or credit is given.**
- b. Instructional Assignments – Instructional assignments are scheduled times when preparations occur, and include any duty that is assigned in lieu of a teaching assignment per Article 11, Section 4. If a teacher is responsible for two (2) or more instructional assignments with the same course code, they shall count as multiple instructional assignments but only one (1) preparation.**
- c. Non-Instructional Assignments – Non-instructional assignments are assignments that do not require planning. Non-instructional assignments do not require teachers to assign a grade, prepare lessons and/or materials, or give ODE credit. The Formal Announced and Unannounced TDES observation events cannot occur during non-instructional assignments. Student Growth Measures cannot apply for non-instructional assignments. Non-instructional assignments are not preparations.**
- d. Assignments – Assignments are scheduled time for a specific purpose that are designated by an administrator. Assignments include instructional assignments and non-instructional assignments.**
- e. Assigned Time – Assigned time is the total time of each class period/block plus one (1) interval of passing time per period/block in the high schools. Assigned time includes homeroom/advisory.**
- f. Block – A block is an instructional period with a curriculum designed to provide students with at least one year of academic credit in half the number of instructional days (e.g. 4x4 block – a full year class in one semester, A/B block – a full year class that meets every other day for the full year).**

Rationale: Defines preps, assignments and blocks. Preparations do not assume that the teacher has to be the teacher of record. When a class has more than one teacher assigned (e.g., co-taught, inclusion, etc.), it is considered a preparation for all the teachers assigned to that class.

Lunch duty, when assigned, is considered part of a teacher's six daily assignments.

Examples of non-instructional assignments include tutoring, peer mentoring, student activities, etc.

2. Homerooms and Advisory Activities ~~in Secondary Schools.~~

All certificated/licensed personnel in a secondary school, except the Principal, Assistant Principal(s), Chapter Chairperson, Assistant Chairperson if over seventy (70) bargaining unit members, Assistant Chairperson as defined in Article 2, Section 3 (C)(5), the Athletic Director, and Department Heads, Core Team Leaders, and Special Education Liaisons ~~shall~~**may** have a homeroom **and/or advisory**.

Homerooms/**advisories** within the building shall be as equal as possible in enrollment. Exceptions may be made for Special Education. The Principal and UCC may exclude other individuals. The UCC members shall not be excluded from homeroom/**advisory** duty unless otherwise qualified under an excluded classification.

3. **Instructional Assigned Time and Substitute Duties at the Secondary Schools.**

a. ~~Assigned time shall be defined as the total of each period's instructional time plus one (1) interval of passing time per period at the high schools.~~ **In a traditional high school schedule (440 minute school day, including a 400 minute student instructional day with 200 minutes of professional time per week), the 300 daily minutes of assigned time, inclusive of passing time, may include up to six (6) instructional and/or non-instructional assignments (or the block equivalent). If a teacher accepts a seventh (7th) assignment (instructional or non-instructional), the teacher will be compensated as per Section 11 below.** If a teacher chooses to accept more assigned time on one (1) or more days of the week in exchange for less assigned time on other days, the total assigned time for the week shall not exceed 1500 minutes, based on six assignments.

b. **In an extended day high school schedule, (470 minute school day, including a 430 minute student instructional day with 200 minutes of professional time per week), the 330 daily minutes of assigned time, inclusive of passing time, may include up to seven (7) instructional and/or non-instructional assignments (or the block equivalent). The seventh (7th) assignment will be paid as per Section 11 below. If a teacher has six (6) or fewer assignments, the additional thirty (30) minutes will be paid at the prorated daily rate. If a teacher accepts an eighth (8th) instructional or non-instructional assignment, the teacher will be compensated as per Section 11 below.** If a teacher chooses to accept more assigned time on one (1) or more days of the week in exchange for less assigned time on other days, the total assigned time for the week shall not exceed ~~1500~~ **1650** minutes, based on ~~six~~ **seven (7)** assignments.

c. **In extended day high schools where a teacher's workday exceeds 470 minutes, the teacher will be paid at the teacher's prorated daily rate for those minutes above 470 in addition to any assignment compensation per Section 11 below.**

d. Teacher assigned time at the high schools shall not exceed 300 minutes per day **at traditional high schools or 330 minutes per day at extended day high schools, and shall include all assignments, including passing time, and** a homerooms/**advisories** ~~not to exceed fifteen (15) total minutes.~~ **Homerooms/advisories shall be ungraded and shall not require lesson plans. Homerooms/advisories that exceed twenty (20) total minutes and/or require lesson plans shall constitute an assignment for purposes**

of calculating additional compensation in Section 11 below. Total assigned time per week shall not exceed 1,500 minutes.

e. Teachers shall not be required to perform substitute duties for absent teachers during the period in which they have instructional duties, except in extreme emergency situations. Mutual agreement is required for a teacher to serve as a substitute teacher.

f. Any modifications to the above instructional times may be modified through the AAP process **or an MOU.**

Rationale: Establishes number of assignments for traditional and extended day high schools.

New Section 5 (all others move down). Use of Online Learning.

A committee comprised of equal numbers assigned by the CEO and CTU President will review how online learning is being utilized in the District and will bring back any concerns and recommendations to the CEO and CTU President.

Rationale: recognizes expansion of use of online learning and creates mechanism to provide guidance.

Section 10. Secondary Department Schedules.

C. No secondary teacher shall have more than three (3) preparations unless he/ she volunteers to take more than three (3). **Low incidence self-contained classes, as identified in Article 10, Section 3, in grades 9-12 may have more than 3 preparations as required by the students' IEPs.**

Rationale: Clarifies preparations for low incidence teachers. Low incidence teachers are encouraged to work collaboratively to departmentalize when aligned with the student's IEPs in the best interest of the students. JSEC will work with special education teams around departmentalization.

Section 11. Compensation for Additional Class Assignments, Meetings, and Conferences.

Compensation for additional class assignments for the 2016-17 school year shall follow the language in the 2013-16 agreement. Effective with the 2017-18 school year, the following language shall be implemented.

A. A secondary teacher shall receive compensation at the rate of one-sixth (1/6) of his or her base pay, ~~proportionate to extra instructional time required by block scheduling,~~ **for each instructional assignment beyond six (6) accepting a seventh (7th) assignments (additional proportional for block scheduling). teaching assignment. Payment will continue** until such time as a permanent teacher is assigned, ~~when any of the following occur:~~

- ~~1. The teacher accepts a seventh (7th) teaching assignment for a period of four (4) consecutive weeks or more; or~~
- ~~2. A Principal determines, and has approval of the Academic Superintendent, that a seventh (7th) teaching assignment may be permanent; or~~
- ~~3. A teacher assumes report card grading responsibility for the seventh (7th) teaching assignment.~~

- B. A secondary teacher shall receive compensation at the rate of one-twelfth (1/12) of his or her base pay, for each non-instructional assignment beyond six (6) assignments (proportional for block scheduling).
- C. In determining which assignment(s) will be considered “additional” class assignments for purposes of compensation in A and B above, non-instructional assignments will always be considered the seventh (7th) and/or eighth (8th) assignment(s) as appropriate.
- D. Teachers who volunteer to accept an assigned period beyond the school day as part of their normal work load may be scheduled to arrive at the start of the second period. However, if the assigned period is in excess of the normal scheduled teacher load, the teacher shall report at the regular starting time for teachers, shall assume a full schedule of duties, and shall receive additional compensation for the assigned period. Compensation in such instances shall be **paid per paragraphs A, B, and/or C above** ~~at the rate of one-sixth (1/6) of the teacher's annual base contract salary as governed in paragraph “A” above.~~
- E. Whenever conferences or meetings are scheduled by the CEO or his/her staff during working hours, participating teachers shall suffer no loss of pay and a substitute shall be provided.

Rationale: Ensures compensation for instructional and non-instructional assignments beyond 6 assignments. For example:

- 1) A teacher has 6 assignments but works a 470 minute day. That teacher will receive 30 minutes at prorated daily rate.
- 2) A teacher has 7 assignments and works a 470 minute day. If 1 of the 7 assignments is a non-instructional assignment, the teacher will receive 1/12th. If all 7 assignments are instructional assignments, the teacher will receive 1/6th.
- 3) A teacher volunteers for an 8th assignments and works a 470 minute day. If both of the additional assignments are instructional assignments, the teacher will get 1/3rd. If one of the additional assignments is a non-instructional assignment, the teacher will get 1/6th plus 1/12th. If both of the additional assignments are non-instructional assignments, the teacher will get 1/6th.

An advisory of 20 minutes or fewer where no grade/credit is given is treated like a homeroom, and while it is assigned time, it is not considered an instructional or non-instructional assignment. An advisory of more than 20 minutes where grade/credit is not given is a non-instructional assignment. An advisory of more than 20 minutes where grade/credit is given is an instructional assignment.

Section 14. — Trade & Industry Program Assignments.

~~A. — Teachers serving in state approved trade and industry programs will assume the standard assignment for a full time teacher which consists of six (6) classes and a home room per day plus an equitable portion of the miscellaneous services and activities of the school.~~

~~B. — Trade and industry teachers will be assigned to any state approved schedule in the area of vocational education. The assignment should include any necessary related subjects.~~

~~C. — Vocational education teachers assigned to one hundred and fifty (150) minute~~

instructional blocks and whose classroom instructional time inclusive of passing time is increased shall be compensated based upon the following schedule:

Instructional Time in Addition to 300 Minutes	Compensation
0-7.5 minutes	0% of base salary
7.71-22.50 minutes	5.56% of base salary
22.51-37.50 minutes	11.11% of base salary
37.51 minutes and above	16.67% of base salary

Further, the District and the Union agree that any vocational education teacher who is laid off as a result of the implementation of the new schedule shall be entitled to reimbursement for recertification/re licensure tuition expenses, according to the following schedule, for the purpose of job retraining or expansion of certification/licensure up to a maximum amount of \$2,000.00 for tuition expenses which are incurred during the period of one year from the time a teacher receives a notice of lay off contingent upon return to employment within the District:

Class/Subject Grade	Reimbursement
A	100%
B	75%
C	50%
D/F	0%

If the course is offered on a pass/fail basis, reimbursement shall be at 100% if the teacher passes.

Rationale: Move to legacy, assuming no current bargaining unit members are affected.

ARTICLE 10 - SCHOOL ORGANIZATION AND TEACHING ASSIGNMENTS

Section 1. Class Size and Organization.

A. Effective with the ~~2013-2014~~ **2016-2017** school year, **the class size for Child Development (regular PreK) with one teacher and one educational aide shall be 20 with no more than two (2) of those 20 who are on IEPs (excluding “speech only” IEPs).** ~~the class size~~ For grades K-3 **the class size** shall be 25 including ESP. For grades 4-8, the class size shall be 28, including ESP. For grades 9-12, the class size shall be 30 including art and music (excluding choir, band, orchestra and similar activities). For grades 9-12 P.E., class size shall be 33.

Rationale: Class size limits for preschool have been established.

New H (all others move down). Where possible, split assignments for Encore teachers between two or more buildings shall be eliminated.

Rationale: Language to address the need to reduce split assignments for Encore teachers.

New I (all others move down). The district will not assign a licensed/certificated teacher to a class or assignment for which they are not licensed/certificated to teach, except in situations in which the teacher is seeking licensure in that area, and accepts the assignment. Rationale: Assignments will not be made outside of licensure area except when seeking licensure and with agreement of the affected teacher.

Section 3. Special Education Assignments.

Ohio law requires that all Special Education class assignments shall maintain intervention specialist and related services personnel/pupil ratios in compliance with the Ohio Operating Standards for Ohio Educational Agencies Serving Children With Disabilities (3301 51-09) (herein after referred to as "Operating Standards"). **If the Ohio Department of Education adopts legislation or regulations which mandate changes in the service provider ratios for delivery of services (3301-51-09(1)) the parties shall reopen good faith negotiations in this section of the contract (Article 10, Section 3) regarding the impact on terms and conditions of employment.**

Rationale: Language moved from the end of this Section.

Disability Category Assigned	Maximum number to be served by School Level (Caseload)		Maximum Number to be Served During Instructional Period		Age Range per Instructional Period Shall Not Exceed
	K-8	9-12	K-8	9-12	
Cognitive Intellectual Disabilities	16	24	12	12	60 months
Specific Learning Disabilities	16	24	12	12	60 months
Hearing impaired Impairment, Visually impaired Impairment, Orthopedic Impairment impaired, Other Health Impairment impaired	10	10	8	8	48 months
Emotionally Disturbanced	12	12	10	10	48 months
Multiple Disabilities	8	8	8	8	60 months
Autism Autistic, Deaf, -Blind,	6	6	6	6	60 months

Traumatic Brain Injury					
Cross Categorical	12*	16*	12*	16*	60 months

*Adapted from the Ohio Department of Education

Low Incidence Model:

Definition:

A self-contained class of students, assigned by the Executive Director of Intervention Services or his/her designee, who participate in a significantly modified curriculum aligned to the Ohio Academic Content Standards (extended); require IEP goals in functional and life-skills areas; and typically qualify for Ohio’s Alternate Assessment for Significant Cognitive Disabilities.

Staffing: 1 Intervention Specialist, 1 Instructional Assistant

Caseload Maximum and number of students to be served per instructional period: 6-8 students with no more than 6 who are identified with Autism, Deaf - Blindness, or Traumatic Brain Injury.

In any low incidence classroom with one teacher and one instructional assistant, and over six (6) total students, or any low incidence classroom with one teacher and more than one instructional assistant, and over eight (8) total students, the Executive Director of Intervention Services or his/her designee will assess the needs of the class to determine which of the following options will be utilized.

1. Add a paraprofessional to the classroom.
2. Create a new classroom within the building.
3. Transfer a student to an appropriate class within the building.
4. Pay the affected intervention specialist in accordance with Article 10 Section 3 A.

Age Range: 60 months

Medically Fragile Model:

Definition:

A self-contained class of students with significant medical and daily living needs, assigned by the Executive Director of Intervention Services or his/her designee, who participate in a significantly modified curriculum aligned to the Ohio Academic Content Standards (extended); require IEP goals in functional and life-skills areas; and typically qualify for Ohio’s Alternate Assessment for Significant Cognitive Disabilities.

Staffing: 1 Intervention Specialist, 2 Instructional Assistants

Caseload Maximum and number of students to be served per instructional period: No more than 8

Age Range: 60 months

Intensive Behavior Intervention Model:

Definition:

A self-contained class of students, assigned by the Executive Director of Intervention Services or his/her designee, whose emotional and behavioral needs are the primary barrier to accessing general education curriculum. Students in this setting require specially designed instruction to achieve social-emotional learning and behavior goals above and beyond what is provided to all students.

Staffing: 1 Intervention Specialist, 1 instructional Assistant

Caseload maximum: No more than 12 students K-12

Instructional maximum: No more than 10 students per period K-12

Age range per Instructional period: 48 months

Preschool Special Education (Effective with the 2017-2018 school year)

<u>Model</u>	<u>Staffing</u>	<u># of special ed/general ed. students</u>
Half Day	1 Intervention Specialist 1 Instructional Assistant	8 special/ up to 2 general ed. in each half day session
Inclusion	1 Intervention Specialist 1 Instructional Assistant	6 special/ 6 general
Integrated	1 Intervention Specialist 1 General Education Teacher 1 Instructional Assistant	8 special/ 12 general
Itinerant	1 Intervention Specialist	3 students per day in field

Rationale: Added definitions and class size limits for different categories of special education.

Related Services Providers	Caseload
Adaptive Physical Education	100
Audiologist	100 school age or 100 preschool
Occupational Therapist*	50 school age or 40 preschool
Orientation and Mobility Instructor*	50 school age or 40 preschool
Physical Therapist*	50 school age or 40 preschool
Speech/Language Pathologist**	1/2000 ADM district-wide; 80 school age, 50 MD, HI, Orthopedic, or 50 preschool
Work/Study Coordinator	75 school age
Vocational Special Educational Coordinator	50 school age
School Psychologist	1/2500 ADM district-wide; 125 school age or 75 preschool

In accordance with Ohio Operating Standards (3301-51-09 (I))

***Maximum caseload = 50 using the following formula:**

_____ school-aged cases + (1.25 * _____ pre-school cases) = total caseload -

****Maximum caseload = 80 using the following formula:**

(1.6 * _____ low-incidence cases) + (1.6 * _____ pre-school cases) + _____ high-incidence cases = total caseload

Caseloads maximum are adjusted down by one for each time an RSP travels between sites in a day. For RSPs working part-time in school settings, expectations for case completion will be prorated based on the number of days worked per week.

In the event the service provider ratios for interventions specialists and related services personnel in the Operating Standards are exceeded, the District will follow the waiver procedures in accordance with the Operating Standards (3301-51-09(K)). One or more of the following options providing adherence to the Operating Standards may be considered before a waiver is requested:

1. Reassignment of students;
2. The assignment of an additional intervention specialist/**related service provider** or qualified long term substitute to create a new class/**assignment**;
3. The district may enact a special transfer of a qualified intervention specialist/**related service provider** from another building because of enrollment changes after October 1st, provided the special transfer does not result in a caseload overage.

If the administration is still unable to meet the instructional and/or case load limits after a good faith effort to implement options 1 through 3 above, the District shall pay the affected intervention specialist/**related service provider (with the exception of school psychologists)** at the class-size overage rate contained in Article 10, Section 1 of this Agreement. Compensation for each marking period of the school year shall be computed in accordance with Article 10, Section 1 (D) as follows:

- \$5.00 per student, per day, for special education students over the caseload (enrollment) limits **for intervention specialists/related service providers (with the exception of school psychologists)** set forth in Article 10, Section 3(A); or
- \$1.00 per student, per period, for special education students over the instructional maximum **for intervention specialists** as set forth in Article 10, Section 3 (A).

Effective with the 2017-18 school year, the District and the Office of Psychological Services' UCC will jointly develop and implement a plan to provide equitable and comprehensive psychological services to all buildings in the District, specifically accounting for the equitable distribution of initial and re-evaluations independent of school assignments. If the District Office of Psychological Services' UCC are unable to reach agreement on a plan, the parties will submit their respective proposals to a mutually selected arbitrator, who will be charged with selecting one of the proposals. The arbitrator's decision will be binding. The parties will share the cost of the arbitrator.

For changes in student enrollment (number of students enrolled), or student need (types of services needed by students), that impact service provider ratios and workload after October 1st number 3 above will apply. School Psychologists, who are required to complete more than 55 ETRs shall be paid as follows: \$250 for each Evaluation Team

Report (ETR) completed in one school year from 56 to 60 cases. \$500 for each Evaluation Team Report (ETR) completed in one school year over 60 cases.

For school psychologists working part-time in school settings, expectations for case completion will be prorated based on the number of days worked per week.

Rationale: Established a process for the District and psychologist's UCC to develop and implement a plan for equitable distribution of caseloads and ETRs.

B. Paraprofessionals and Sign Language/Educational Interpreters.

2. Effective with the 2017-2018 school year, every effort shall be made to find a regular substitute for a paraprofessional who is absent or released from any scheduled class. Regular paraprofessionals may become “special substitute paraprofessionals” when a substitute is not available. Special substitute assignments shall be voluntary, except in emergencies as determined by the principal consistent with the standards set in the written mutual agreement defined in Article 10, Section 6 (and Appendix M) by the UCC and principal at the beginning of the school year. Special substitute assignments shall be made on an equitable basis whenever possible. For each event when the paraprofessional acts as a substitute for an absent paraprofessional which increases their responsibilities beyond their regular assignment (i.e. paraprofessionals covering two classes simultaneously or serving the needs of another paraprofessional’s students while assigned to duties in their regular assignment) the paraprofessional will be paid the maximum hourly rate for a substitute instructional aide. The paraprofessional accepting this substitute event will be paid in 30 minutes increments in which an assignment for less than 30 minutes would be paid one half of the hourly rate for that substitute event (e.g. a twenty minute substitute event equals ½ hour payment; eighty minute substitute event equals 1.5 hour payment). Paraprofessionals cannot be paid for coverages of relief time breaks of other paraprofessionals as defined in Article 24 Section 2(M).

~~. Thirty (30) minutes of release time per occurrence shall be given to a paraprofessional or Sign Language/Educational Interpreter who is assigned to a special education classroom where the number of students in that classroom are beyond the stated caseload limit (Article 10, Section 3) or for each occurrence when the paraprofessional or Sign Language/Educational Interpreter acts as a substitute for an absent paraprofessional or Sign Language/Educational Interpreter. The 30 minutes of non-cumulative release time shall occur:~~

- ~~• after the student instructional day;~~
- ~~• after all students for whom the paraprofessional or Sign Language/Educational Interpreter has responsibility have left the building premises;~~
- ~~• prior to the paraprofessional or Sign Language/Educational Interpreter’s normal release time;~~
- ~~• on the same day as the occurrence of the situations described above; and~~
- ~~• with prior approval of the school administrator or designee.~~

Rationale: Establishes a procedure when paraprofessionals substitute for other paraprofessionals. Establishes compensation for that coverage. Replaces release time that was in previous contract.

5. Every Intervention Specialist will **be assigned a case load of students by the principal and each student's case manager will be documented in the** ~~maintain a separate case load student roster in the current~~ Student Information System (SIS). **and Intervention Specialists** will report progress on IEP goals/objectives for students on his/her caseload as required by the Operating Standards. Grades for courses in which these students are enrolled will be assigned by the subject area Highly Qualified Teacher (HQT) on the current report card system.

Rationale: Memorializes current practice.

8. Communicating policies and procedures to staff annually regarding IEPs and state guidelines including guidance that IEPs will be written on the educational needs of the student rather than to comply with a school's program or model.

9. Recommending ways to increase access to information to relevant parties and increase efficiency of compliance related tasks.

Rationale: Memorializes best practices.

Section 5. Grade Level/Subject Preference.

Teachers **and paraprofessionals** shall submit their grade level/subject preference for the following year to the Principal on or before ~~April~~ **February** 15, and those preferences shall not be unreasonably refused.

Section 6. Teachers Assigned as Special Substitutes.

E. If a paraprofessional is absent, not assigned, or released from any scheduled class, the District should first send a substitute paraprofessional or hire a paraprofessional into an open position. If no paraprofessional coverage is provided, the teacher shall be paid at the paraprofessional substitute rate listed in Appendix A for instructional time with the classroom (i.e., excluding lunch, planning or other non-classroom time, as these times are paid at the teacher special substitute rate in Appendix A). This coverage rate does not apply to bilingual paraprofessionals.

Rationale: Memorializes current practice for compensating teachers when a paraprofessional is absent.

Section 9. Classroom Integrity.

A. No change

B. Effective with the 2017-2018 school year, all visits to the schools, including visits by parents, community members, State or Federal representatives, District-employed consultants and District employees, are to abide by the guidelines in Appendix _____ of this Agreement.

Rationale: Establishes a procedure for classroom visitations.

Section 12. Parent/Guardian Contact.

The District and the Union agree that contacts with the student's parent/guardian are an important and essential part of a teacher's professional responsibility.

Each teacher shall make every good faith effort to utilize telephone calls, home visits or other contacts with the parent/ guardian of each student to the extent possible by **the first quarter progress reports** ~~the end of ADM-1 (Fall Average Daily Membership Reporting~~

~~Period) week~~ and shall continue these contacts, as necessary, throughout the school year. Other bargaining unit members shall assist. The purpose of the contact with the parent/ guardian shall be to establish rapport to address/solve teacher and/or parent/guardian concerns, e.g., potential discipline issues, academic performance, and test results. Parent/guardian contacts should be documented for future reference. Teachers will continue to be available throughout the school year for parent-teacher conferences within their scheduled school day, exclusive of lunch, and arranged in consideration of the teacher's schedule and other commitments.

Section 15. Reduction in Student Testing

The district and the CTU are committed to reducing the amount of instructional time used to test and for test preparation. For the 2017-2018 school year, at a minimum the following assessments will be eliminated: Conditions for Learning Survey Winter administration and one (1) K-3 vendor assessment. These reductions will be enforced provided no changes occur that prevent implementation (e.g., assessment removed from state approved vendor list, changes to law through ESSA, etc.).

Effective with the 2017-18 school year, the district will annually, no later than July 31, make available the testing calendar, the purpose of and time required for each test, and statutory requirements related to testing for the purposes of review and feedback. The CTU may provide any feedback about test scheduling to be considered for the coming school year via existing district union committees (e.g., the Calendar Committee, SGM sub-committee, Third Grade Guarantee committee, Humanware committee, etc.) through the end of the first month of school. Additionally, CTU may provide any feedback for testing calendars for future years through these same existing committees by April 1. The feedback will go to the Academic Department for overall consideration into the testing calendar.

Rationale: Identifies specific assessments to be reduced and a commitment and a process for an ongoing review to further reduce assessments and amount of instructional time used to test and for test preparation as much as possible.

Appendix ____: Article 10, Section 9 B

All visits to the schools, including visits by parents, community members, State or Federal representatives, District-employed consultants and District employees, are to abide by the following guidelines:

- A. Visitors may include the following:**
 - 1. Parents**
 - 2. Community Members and/or Partners from Organizations**
 - 3. District Employees who are not otherwise assigned to the school**
 - 4. District employed consultants**
 - 5. State and Federal representatives**
- B. Visitors are required to:**
 - 1. Register at the school prior to the visitation activity schedule.**
 - 2. Adhere to the identified schedule and visitation parameters established by the schools (i.e.: number of visitors, length of time, protocols of introduction, etc.).**

C. Visitors are expected to show respect for the learning environment by adhering to the following:

- 1. Introducing themselves prior to entering the classroom and stating the purpose for the visit when requested to do so by the teacher.**
- 2. Maintaining low and/or non-disruptive speaking levels.**
- 3. Silencing cellular phones and/or other devices that make noise.**
- 4. Respecting the professional's personal space and property at all times (e.g., not going through the contents of an employee's desk).**
- 5. Not entering classrooms when it is evident that testing is occurring. If a teacher expresses concern due to special circumstances (i.e.: illness, delicate classroom discussion, fights, TDES observation, etc.), they can request the visit be rescheduled for later that day.**
- 6. Interacting with and/or engaging students only with the permission of the classroom teacher.**
- 7. Video, photography, audio recording or duplication of lesson plans and materials for the purposes of academic/curriculum or programmatic evaluation is allowed with the permission of the classroom teacher. The CEO, CAO, CPO, Deputy Chief of Curriculum and Instruction, and Academic Superintendent for that school, shall have the ability to video, photograph and/or audio record classroom lessons and materials for the purposes of academic/curriculum or programmatic evaluation after notification and statement of purpose to the classroom teacher.**
- 8. Following the pre-arranged protocol(s) and/or direction regarding visitor introductions and/or statements of purpose during visits to individual or specific classrooms.**

D. In the case of Academic Learning Walks:

- 1. Visitors engaged in learning walks shall adhere to the above protocols.**
- 2. The learning walks are for the purpose of professional learning, monitoring implementation of District identified strategies and curriculum, and providing feedback to the school's administration, Academic Progress Team, and Chapter Chairperson.**
- 3. The learning walks will be scheduled, in advance, by the Academic Office and/or District Leader.**
- 4. The Academic Progress Team, including the UCC Chairperson, will be notified in advance, of the visit and will be involved in the process. Affected teachers shall be provided notice which shall identify the visitors engaged in the learning walk and the purpose of the visit.**
- 5. No information gathered from a school visit shall be used in an employee's evaluation.**

ARTICLE 11 - TEACHER NON-INSTRUCTIONAL DUTIES

Section 2. Reduction of Clerical Duties.

- A. The district will make every effort to reduce the duplicate recording of data by teachers.**

- B. Workshops shall be established for Principals and UCC representatives to mutually explore ways of improving clerical and recordkeeping systems.

Rationale: Information is already available electronically and does not need to be duplicated on paper.

Section 10. Report Time.

~~Beginning with the 2007/08 school year, a~~All bargaining unit members with the exception of paraprofessionals, sign language/ educational interpreters, occupational therapy assistants, and physical therapy assistants will arrive ten (10) minutes before the start of the student day. During this time, such bargaining unit members must be in the school building. However, this time may not be assigned by the Principal or other administrator.

ARTICLE 12 - HIRING, ASSIGNMENT, AND TRANSFER PROCEDURES

Section 2. Necessary Transfers.

B. Determining Candidates for Necessary Transfers.

5. i. Experience – 1 point for every year of teaching experience in the District. **Teachers who resign or retire from their positions and are later reemployed shall lose those years acquired prior to the separation unless he/she is reemployed as a teacher in a school year consecutive to that of the separation.**

Rationale: This establishes guidelines for teachers who separate from their teaching position and are subsequently reemployed as a teacher with the district.

6. Secondary schools (middle and high schools) will apply number 5 above in necessary transfers on a departmental basis.

Elementary schools and K-8 schools will apply number 5 above in necessary transfers on a school basis, ~~except~~ **except** in Kindergarten, Child Development, Special Education and Special Subject (ESP) Areas. For the purpose of this section all Intervention courses are to be considered in the regular education department.

In Kindergarten, Child Development, ~~and~~ Special Education, **and Special Subject (ESP) Areas, number 5 above the seniority system in necessary transfers** will be applied on a departmental basis **within the school. In an effort to offer a variety of educational opportunities, in the Special Subject (ESP) areas, in number 5 above.**

Rationale: This language cleans up incomplete language from 2013-16 and reflects current practice.

- C. Exemptions to Necessary Transfers. The following will be exempt from Necessary Transfers:

1. The CTU Chapter Chairperson;
2. Three (3) teachers identified by position only determined by the Principal of each school after notice and consultation with the building's UCC. In schools with more than 600 students and less than 900 students, four (4) teachers identified by position only may be selected, and in schools with more than 900 students, five (5) teachers identified by position only may be selected. Such selection shall be made from the following list in a written mutual agreement by the first of ~~May~~ **February** or there

shall be no exemptions for the following school year except that of the CTU Chapter Chairperson:

Rationale: The change of month allows this to occur before staffing takes place.

ARTICLE 13 - TEACHER EVALUATION

Except as otherwise specifically noted, all changes to Article 13 will take effect as of July 1, 2016.

Section 1. Teacher Development & Evaluation System (TDES)

New D (all others move down): For purposes of this Article, “day” refers to work day.

D. (OLD D, renumber): According to ORC 3311.80 and 3319.112, all teachers will receive an Effectiveness Rating each year. **Unless mandated by statute, no more than 50%** of the Effectiveness Rating shall be comprised of multiple measures of student achievement as described in D(1) below and **no less than 50%** shall reflect the performance as in the observation/evaluation process (i.e. the Teacher Performance Calculation, outlined below). The Effectiveness Rating will be determined at the end of the school year and will be reported to the Ohio Department of Education.

1. Pursuant to ORC 3319.112 **or other related statutes**, ~~three forms of~~ student growth data (**which may include** teacher-level value-added data, state approved vendor assessment data, and district developed measures which may include student learning objectives) may inform the teacher measure of student achievement. Determining the teacher's 50% measure of student achievement for evaluation purpose shall be calculated in the following manner:

a. Where teacher-level value-added data is available **and mandated under state law**, the teacher's ~~50%~~ measure of student growth will be **no more than 35%** value-added and **no less than 15%** student learning objectives (SLOs).

b. Where teacher-level value-added data is unavailable **or not mandated**, the teacher's ~~50%~~ measure of student growth shall be **no more than 35%** vendor assessment data, **where available and approved**, and **no less than 15%** student learning objectives (SLOs).

c. Where no teacher-level value-added data **is available and mandated** or **where no** vendor assessment data is available, the teacher's ~~50%~~ measure of student growth shall be **evenly distributed among two (2)** student learning objectives (SLOs).

d. Certified/licensed bargaining unit members without directly attributable teacher-level data shall be exempt from the ~~50%~~

measure of student growth, ~~until such time as the related service provider ("RSP") evaluation system is implemented pursuant to Paragraph K of this Section.~~

All teachers will fall under 'c' above until such time as vendor or value-added data exists and is approved.

Rationale: Provides flexibility to align to potential changes in state guidelines for student growth measures.

~~Beginning with the 2014-15 school year,~~ The percentages attributed to measures of student growth will be revisited annually and may be jointly revised to reflect the lessons learned, data collected, and changes in the ODE assessment tools and practices with a commitment to making adjustments to the percentages of multiple student growth measures which are most validly and reliably attributable to teacher performance and are based upon the most valid and reliable multiple student growth measures.

E. Effective July 1, 2017, the Building Level TDES Committee comprised of the Principal, Chapter Chair, and one (1) to three (3) classroom teachers mutually selected by the Principal and Chapter Chair will review the SLOs. In the event a Building Level TDES Committee approves a teacher's request to reduce an SLO target for a student and the building principal disagrees, the teacher may appeal to the SLO Subcommittee of the TDES Steering Committee within ten (10) working days. The SLO Subcommittee will review the SLO against the SLO Guidance Documents to determine if the proposed adjustments align with the Guidance Documents and will respond within ten (10) working days. If the SLO Subcommittee does not respond within ten (10) working days, the matter will be referred to an SLO expert agreed to by the parties with costs shared by the parties. The parties must accept the SLO expert's decision.

Rationale: Establishes an SLO appeals process.

F. Effectiveness Ratings are reported to the Ohio Department of Education according to ORC 3319.112. The other documentation of observation events are kept in the employee's file and are used to determine areas of strengths, weaknesses, and areas in need of improvement. Observation events will drive the development of a teacher's professional growth plan (PGP) or professional improvement plan (PIP).

A teacher receiving an Effectiveness Rating of "Accomplished" will be evaluated every two years. **A limited or extended limited contract teacher receiving an Effectiveness Rating of "Accomplished" will be given a two-year limited or extended limited contract to coincide with the two-year evaluation cycle. However, an "Accomplished" teacher with a limited or extended limited contract must be evaluated in any**

school year in which the teacher’s contract is due to expire or where the teacher provides notice of eligibility pursuant to Article 8, Section 4 B that he or she wishes to be considered for a Continuing Contract. Consistent with Article 30, a teacher with an Effectiveness Rating of “Accomplished” choosing to take the exemption for the next year will not have the ability to earn the “Accomplished” stipend for the year of the exemption. However, if the teacher rated “Accomplished” chooses to undergo the full evaluation cycle the subsequent year, the teacher is eligible to earn the “Accomplished” stipend should he/she be rated “Accomplished” that year. In such case the biennial evaluation will be completed in accordance with the above timelines during the evaluation year.

Rationale: Memorializes current practice for limited contract “Accomplished” teachers.

- G. All TDES processes and documentation will be completed through the ~~Great Teachers-Great Leaders electronic system~~ **TDES portal**. No other forms for evaluations shall be used.

Administrators may provide informal feedback to teachers or other educators, outside of the TDES system, without using a “feedback form.” However, any administrator who wishes to create a form to provide informal feedback to teachers or other CTU educators, outside of the TDES system, shall include on the form the statement: “This feedback form is not a part of the TDES system and is not to be used for evaluative purposes.” Any “feedback form” created for this purpose must be aligned to the strategy(ies) in the school’s Academic Achievement Plan. The visual impact of any “feedback form” created should reflect its purpose (i.e. to provide informal feedback and not to replace a TDES event). If any issues arise with informal feedback or a “feedback form” that is used by an administrator, the teacher or other educator will first address concerns at the building level, and may then bring those concerns to the TDES Steering Committee for resolution.

Rationale: Memorializes current practice for informal (non TDES) feedback.

- H. Pursuant to ORC 3311.80 and Board Resolution 2013-3030(B), all evaluators must be credentialed A list of credentialed evaluators will be **electronically** forwarded to the CTU President **and TDES co-chairs as made available.**
- I. Appeals process – Following the first formal announced observation event and any subsequent event, a teacher may request the intervention and/or support of the ~~Academic Superintendent~~ **Network Leader** within ten (10) working days. The ~~Academic Superintendent~~ **Network Leader** will review the evidence regarding the events to date, and may take one or more of the following actions:

1-4: No Changes

The ~~Academic Superintendent~~ **Network Leader** shall submit an electronic record of the request, his/her response, and the outcome of the appeal within ten (10) working days.

The teacher may appeal the ~~Academic Superintendent's~~ **Network Leader's** response to the TDES Steering Committee co-chairs within ten (10) working days. The TDES Steering Committee co-chairs will respond within ten (10) working days.

If the co-chairs do not agree on the appeal, the matter will be referred to a TDES expert agreed to by the parties with costs shared by the parties. The parties must accept the TDES expert's decision.

Rationale: Provides clarity on the appeals process for making final determinations.

J.No Changes.

1. The ~~academic superintendents~~ **Chief Talent Officer/Designee** will review evaluation data for ~~their assigned~~ all schools and will report incomplete evaluations to the CEO, the CTU President, **TDES co-chairs, Network Leaders**, and to the building principals on a monthly basis.

2. In addition, any teacher who is concerned about the timely completion of the evaluation procedure may, at any time, notify **his/her evaluator and** the TDES Committee co-chairs **electronically** ~~in writing~~. Any incomplete evaluations will be referred to the TDES Steering Committee co-chairs for resolution which could include a compressed evaluation schedule.

3. No changes.

4. Where the teacher has initiated, in writing, communications with ~~the~~ their evaluator, and if the concern persists, in writing with the TDES Steering Committee co-chairs advising that an event has not been completed in a timely manner in accordance with this Article, and where there is no Teacher Performance Data available, a default performance ranking of "Skilled" shall be assigned for that year. This ranking will be combined with the student growth measures for the year to establish the Effectiveness Rating. ~~If no student growth measures are available for a non-classroom teacher (i.e. psychologist, guidance counselor, related service provider) the Effectiveness Rating will be based on the 50% of the observational component combined with 50% of student growth measures based upon a "meets expected" rating. The timelines and/or procedures in this Article may be modified with the agreement of the TDES Steering Committee co-chairs for resolution to accommodate the evaluation of a teacher with missing evaluation data.~~

Rationale: Removes language setting Related Service Providers student growth rating to "Meets Expected".

5. Where the teacher does not have student growth data **through no fault of the teacher** (i.e.g. returning from a leave of absence, **has insufficient number of students**), the default will be the higher of his/her rolling average of the last three (3) years of student growth **rating data** (rounded to nearest whole) or the last year's student growth **rating data**. In the event the student growth measures do not exist, the **growth measures rating will be exempt** ~~TDES Steering Committee will address the situation.~~

6. **Where there is no growth measure, because the teacher failed to administer the assessment or failed to create an SLO and/or implement an approved SLO, the teacher will default to the least effective rating (1) for that missing growth measure.**

Rationale: Memorializes current practice.

7. The timelines and/or procedures in this Article may be modified with the agreement of the TDES Steering Committee co-chairs for resolution to accommodate the evaluation of a teacher with missing evaluation data.

Rationale: moved unedited from above

~~J. Beginning with the 2013-2014 school year,~~†The TDES Steering Committee (see Appendix U) will convene monthly to monitor the implementation of TDES, including data collection and outcomes, communications, appeals, training, and any other aspect requiring review. The Steering Committee will regularly report to the CEO and the President of the CTU.

~~K. The TDES Steering Committee will establish an ad hoc committee to implement a related service provider development and evaluation system composed of an equal number of CTU members and administrators appointed by the TDES Steering Committee Co-Chairs. The TDES Steering Committee will set a timeline for this committee to develop an evaluation system for related service providers commensurate to the TDES system that will include both announced and unannounced observations, walkthroughs and multiple measures of student growth that reflect the professional work of the related service providers. The development of this system will be completed and implemented by the 2014-2015 school year with the understanding this timeline coincides with Article 19, Lay offs and Recalls, and Article 30, Wages and Benefits. The CEO and CTU President have the authority to mutually agree to extend the timeline for implementation and transition.~~

~~K. Teachers on assignment will receive a rating of Skilled until such time as an evaluation tool is developed and implemented by the TDES Steering Committee. The TDES Steering Committee will establish procedures for evaluating "teachers on assignment".~~

Rationale: Teachers on assignment and the CTU President are placed onto CDCS and given the ability to earn a rating.

L. The CTU President will receive an annual rating of Skilled.

Section 2. TDES Timelines/Procedures.

~~A. Prior to their first evaluation event, t~~Teachers new to CMSD will receive **must attend** a minimum of six (6) hours of training (Introduction to Framework for Teaching) **which shall be scheduled by the District within their first twenty (20) workdays.** The first evaluation event will take place following the training window. ~~A minimum of six (6) additional professional development hours will be provided at the building and/or District level, which may include an Introduction to the TDES Process.~~

Paraprofessionals new to the District must attend a minimum of three (3) hours of training which shall be scheduled at a minimum on a quarterly basis. The first evaluation event will take place following the training window.

Rationale: Requires teacher attendance at TDES training and establishes paraprofessional TDES training.

B. No changes.

~~C. Beginning with the 2013-2014 school year, e~~Each teacher (without regard to continuing or limited contract status), will undergo five (5) formal observation 'events' consisting of three (3) classroom walk-throughs and two formal classroom observations. One formal observation will be announced and one formal observation will be unannounced. A fourth walk-through may be requested by either the teacher or the evaluator. However, the fourth walk-through is optional and must be agreed upon by both the teacher and the evaluator. The process concludes with a final composite evaluation that reflects the final effectiveness rating.

1. No changes.

2. A walk-through is a short classroom visit of five (5) to fifteen (15) minutes. Following the walk-through, written feedback will be provided. The teacher may add additional evidence. The teacher may request a follow-up conversation if he/she feels it is necessary. However, the teacher is not required to respond to a walkthrough and a follow-up conversation is not mandatory.

If the evaluator is looking for evidence of off-stage domains, one of the walk-throughs can be a conversational walk-through in which an evaluator will discuss with the professional the off-stage components of TDES. A conversational walk-through counts as a walk-through event.

Rationale: Moved from Appendix.

3. A formal announced observation **process** includes a pre-conference, formal observation, and post-conference. The formal, announced observation **process** will occur within a ten (10) day cycle. Throughout the process, the evaluator will collaborate with the teacher to establish the time for the pre-conference, observation, and post-conference.

- No changes.
- No changes.

- No changes.
- No changes.
- No changes.
- At the conclusion of the observation, **or, effective July 1, 2017, as soon as possible, but no later than 24 hours**, the teacher will receive electronic notification that the evidence is complete and has been submitted.

Rationale: TDES evidence to be added to the portal by the evaluator soon as possible, but no later than 24 hours after the event.

- No changes.
- No changes.
- The teacher and evaluator will meet for a post-conference to discuss any discrepancies in the self-evaluation and the **observation evidence. The post-conference will also capture evidence of the off-stage elements.**
- **Effective July 1, 2017, in the event FAO does not occur when scheduled, the original submitted TDES lesson plan and evidence will be used for Domain I. A mutually agreed upon date and time will be rescheduled for the observation and post-conference to capture Domains II, III, and IV evidence.**

Rationale: Establishes guidelines for the FAO if it needs to be rescheduled.

4. A formal unannounced observation does not include notification of the observation, the TDES lesson plan, nor a pre-conference. The formal unannounced observation **process** will occur within a ten (10) day cycle.

- No changes in bullets

5. Each year, teachers will receive a Teacher **Composite Rating Performance Calculation** based on the preponderance of the evidence presented from the five (5) formal observation 'events' reflecting a level of attainment and sustainment of teacher performance. If a person has a "tie" between ~~s~~—"Skilled" and distinguished "Accomplished", the related power components will be a "tie-breaker" "Power Components" are the foundational skills listed as components in Domains I, II, III and IV that are considered to be fundamental to teaching. The overall "Accomplished" rating is reserved for those teachers who do not have any (a) "Ineffective" component ratings within the composite or (b) "Developing" component ratings within the composite.

6. A final Teacher Effectiveness Rating (of Accomplished, Skilled, Developing or Ineffective) will be completed no later than June 1st. **Pursuant to Section 1(D) above, no more than fifty percent (50%) of the Effectiveness Rating shall be comprised of multiple measures of**

student achievement as described above, where such measures exist, and **no less than** fifty percent (50%) shall reflect **the Teacher Composite Rating Performance Calculation** outlined above. **If measures of student achievement based on vendor data are not available by June 1st, but become available before the State reporting window closes, but no later than June 30th, the data will be used in the final Teacher Effectiveness Rating.** Where no measures of student growth are available **before the State reporting window closes but no later than June 30th, whichever is earlier, the missing percentage of student growth data shall be calculated using the default language in Section I above, if applicable, 100% of the Effectiveness Rating will be comprised to reflect the Teacher Performance Calculation outlined above.** **Any missing student growth data must be calculated using actual previous student data and may not default to a previous default. If all or a part of the growth measures are unavailable, then the Teacher Composite Rating shall be used for that percentage of the missing growth data.**

Rationale: Establishes dates for when student growth measure data needs to be available by and memorializes the process for defaults when data is not available.

D. Effective July 1, 2017, all other licensed/certificated bargaining unit members (e.g. guidance counselors, psychologists, and other Related Service Providers (RSPs)) and occupational/physical therapy assistants, without regard to contract status, will undergo three (3) formal observation events. The elements of the process are: one Formal Announced Observation (FAO), Document Submission for Domains 1, 2, 3, and 4 (DS-1), and Document Submission for Domains 2 and 3 (DS-2), and a composite conference. DS-1 and DS-2 will take the place of the Walkthroughs. An observational walkthrough may be requested by either the professional or the evaluator. However, the observational walkthrough is optional and must be agreed upon by both the professional and the evaluator. The composite conference is not an observation event; it is a cumulative evidence review and determination of a final rating.

- 1. FAO includes a pre-conference, formal observation, and post-conference. FAO will occur within a ten (10) day cycle. The evaluator will mutually agree with the RSP to establish the time for the pre-conference, observation, and post-conference.**
 - The ten (10) day window begins when the evaluator and the RSP meet for the pre-conference.**
 - Once the pre-conference has been scheduled, the RSP will create and upload the service plan.**

- The evaluator will review the service plan prior to the pre-conference. The evaluator can also request further details or make suggestions prior to or during the pre-conference.
 - The observation will be a minimum of thirty (30) minutes.
 - The evaluator will document evidence during the observation.
 - At the conclusion of the observation, or as soon as possible, but no later than 24 hours or noon the following day, whichever is sooner, the RSP will receive electronic notification that the evidence is complete and has been submitted.
 - The RSP will review the evidence and may add additional evidence to create a richer and fuller record of the lesson.
 - The RSP will submit a self-evaluation of the lesson. The evaluator will then mark areas of agreement with the self-evaluation.
 - The RSP and evaluator will meet for a post-conference to discuss any discrepancies in the self-evaluation and the observation evidence. The post-conference will allow both the evaluator and the professional to capture evidence of the off-stage elements, which will be included in the evidence collection.
 - In the event FAO does not occur when scheduled, the original submitted TDES lesson plan and evidence will be used for Domain I. A mutually agreed upon date and time will be rescheduled for the observation and post-conference to capture Domains II, III, and IV evidence.
2. **Document Submission 1 (DS-1).** The professional will collect and submit evidence of Domains I, II, III and IV, which report and describe his/her regular practice.
- The evaluator will notify the professional of the date evidence must be submitted and the date of the evaluation conference.
 - Following the evidence submission, the professional self-evaluates on the appropriate rubric and submits the self-evaluation.
 - The evaluator reviews the evidence and the self-evaluation and marks the areas of agreement. The evaluator may add additional evidence or request additional information.
 - The evaluator will meet with the professional for a conference, which may be conducted electronically or by phone. At the conference, the evaluator and the professional shall discuss any discrepancies in the self-evaluation and the evidence submitted.
3. **Document Submission 2 (DS-2).** The professional will collect and submit evidence of Domains II and III, and the above process will be followed.

4. **FAO-1 will occur no later than the last day of the second quarter. DS-1 will occur after the FAO is completed, but no later than the last day of the third quarter. DS-2 will occur after the DS-1 is completed, but no later than the last day of the fourth quarter.**
5. **At the end of the year, the evaluator will schedule a composite conference.**
 - **The professional will submit a summative self-evaluation rating document.**
 - **The evaluator will review the summative rating document and mark areas of agreement.**
 - **During the composite conference, the evaluator and the professional will discuss discrepancies.**
6. **Each year, RSPs will receive a Teacher Composite Rating based on the preponderance of the evidence presented from the three (3) formal observation 'events' reflecting a level of attainment and sustainment of performance. If a person has a "tie" between skilled and accomplished, the related power components will be a "tie-breaker". Power components are the foundational skills listed as components in Domains I, II, III and IV that are considered to be fundamental to teaching. The overall "Accomplished" rating is reserved for those RSPs who do not have any (a) "Ineffective" component ratings within the composite or (b) "Developing" component ratings within the composite.**
 - a. **A final Teacher Effectiveness Rating (of Accomplished, Skilled, Developing or Ineffective) will be completed no later than June 1st. One hundred percent of the Effectiveness Rating will be comprised to reflect the Teacher Composite Rating outlined above.**

Rationale: Establishes a new TDES process for RSPs.

~~7. E. Beginning with the 2013-2014 school year, all other bargaining unit members (e.g. guidance counselors, school psychologists, paraprofessionals, and related service providers) (without regard to contract status),~~
Paraprofessionals will undergo two (2) formal observation 'events.'

- a. During the first semester, the **paraprofessional** will collect evidence of Domains 1 and 4, which report and describe his/her regular practice.
 - The evaluator will notify the **paraprofessional** of the date evidence must be submitted and the date of the evaluation conference.
 - Following the evidence submission, the **paraprofessional** self-evaluates on the appropriate rubric and submits the self-evaluation.
 - The evaluator reviews the evidence and the self-evaluation and

marks the areas of agreement. The evaluator may add additional evidence or request additional information.

- The evaluator will meet with the **paraprofessional** for a conference. At the conference, the evaluator and the **paraprofessional** shall discuss any discrepancies in the self-evaluation and the evidence submitted.
- b. During the second semester, the **paraprofessional** will collect evidence of Domains 2 and 3, and the above process will be followed.
- c. At the end of each year, following the second observation event, the evaluator will schedule a composite conference.
 - The **paraprofessional** will submit a summative self-evaluation rating document.
 - The evaluator will review the summative rating document and mark areas of agreement.
 - During the composite conference, the evaluator and the **paraprofessional** will discuss discrepancies. ~~The professional may bring additional evidence to the composite conference.~~
 - ~~The evaluator will create a Professional Development Plan to facilitate growth or improvement for the following school year.~~
- d. The evaluator will create a final composite evaluation no later than June 1st.

F. Instructional Coaches, High School Media Specialists, and Sign Language/Educational Interpreters will follow the same five event process used for teachers as reflected in paragraph C, 1-6 above. A final Effectiveness Rating (Accomplished, Skilled, Developing, or Ineffective) will be completed no later than June 1st. One hundred percent of the Effectiveness Rating will be comprised of the Composite Rating outlined in Section C (5) above.

Rationale: Clarifies which bargaining unit members will use the 5 event process and reconfirms the RSPs will have 100% observational rating.

Section 3. Professional Growth and Improvement Plans.

~~Beginning with the 2014-2015 school year, p~~Pursuant to ODE's evaluation framework under ORC 3319.112, all teachers and other professionals will either be on a Professional Growth Plan (PGP) or a Professional Improvement Plan (PIP). **A PIP is triggered by an overall Composite Rating of “Developing” or “Ineffective”.** Additionally, a rating of Ineffective in one or more of the power components may trigger interventions to assist teacher development of improved practice. For classroom teachers, the nine (9) power components have been identified as: 1 c, e, 2b,c,d, 3c,d, and 4b,f (See Appendix U, Decision Cluster 6.)

Rationale: Clarifies when a growth plan or improvement plan is triggered.

Section 4. Mentoring/Resident Educator Mentors/Peer Advisors.

~~With the agreement of the CEO and the CTU President, implementation of this section will be phased in beginning as early as possible in the 2013-2014 school year.~~

A. No changes.

B. No changes.

C. The District shall offer thirty (30) hours of ~~programs~~ **professional development** for teachers new to the District over the course of the school year. ~~to be scheduled by the Academic Superintendent.~~

Twenty (20) hours of ~~these~~ **this professional development** ~~programs~~ shall be mandatory. The remaining ten (10) hours shall be voluntary. ~~and may include Resident Educator requirements. Those teachers who serve as mentors shall be involved in sessions as well. These sessions shall be devoted to small group meetings to review how the year is going to that point and to discuss common problems and to look for common solutions.~~

One-half of the ~~programs~~ **mandatory professional development** shall be scheduled by the District, which may include Resident Educator/Alternate Resident Educator Requirements and/or TDES requirements. This professional development will be shared with the CTU.

The other half shall of the mandatory professional development will be scheduled by the union to implement the Educational Research and Dissemination (ER&D) Programs. ~~Attendance at the ER&D Programs is encouraged but voluntary for mentor teachers. The rest of the sessions are mandatory.~~ The CTU will develop and implement this portion of ~~these programs~~ **the professional development**. ~~Mentor teachers and ER&D trainers shall be paid at the Professional Development (In-Service Instructor) rate.~~

The remaining ten (10) hours will be voluntary and will be self-selected by the teacher based on the needs of the professional.

The mentee teachers shall be paid at the Professional Development (In-Service) rate for each hour of attendance of both the mandatory and voluntary professional development. ~~Bargaining unit members serving as mentors shall have the option of earning Continuing Education Units (CEUs) instead of receiving monetary compensation.~~

Mentor teachers are encouraged to participate in professional development with their mentee where practical as part of their Mentor role. The mentor teacher will not receive additional compensation for participation.

Rationale: Memorializes current practice.

D. New teachers will, **at their request**, be released two (2) days during their first semester in the District and one (1) day during their second semester in the District. These released days will be used to observe and collaborate with **their Mentor teacher or other** experienced teachers. If the Principal determines that released time is necessary for the mentoring teachers as part of their mentoring

efforts, such released time may be granted. Teachers new to the District may be assigned extra time to observe and collaborate with experienced teachers with class coverage provided.

E. The CTU and CMSD will continue the work started by the CTU/CMSD Induction Committee. ~~The Race to the Top CTU / CMSD Induction~~ This Committee may make recommendations to change the Mentoring / Induction program to the CTU President and CEO. Recommended changes may incorporate the ODE's Resident Educator requirements.

Rationale: Housekeeping

Add to Appendix U: New paragraph 14. RSP Document Submission Guidelines for all other Licensed/Certificated Bargaining Unit Members (e.g. guidance counselors, psychologists, and other Related Service Providers) and for occupational/physical therapy assistants.

No more than two documents per component may be submitted initially. The documents selected should show, for each component, the traits of the level of performance the professional believes are representative of their performance in that component.

The professional should discuss these chosen documents with the evaluator, explaining why and how they are representative of the desired level of performance in that component.

Evaluators may request a specific number of additional samples of evidence for a particular component to support a professional's contended level of performance. The professional may include a specific number of additional examples for a particular component.

It is not necessary to submit every document related to a component in order to demonstrate best practice. Careful, thoughtful selection of exemplars is recommended.

Rationale: Adds guidelines for RSP document submission.

ARTICLE 14 - BUILDING/SCHOOL EVENT SECURITY

Rationale: Change of title indicates this language applies to all school events including those off campus.

Section 1. Building Security.

- A. Written evacuation plans will be developed and shared at the first staff meeting of each school year. These plans shall address the needs of students with mobility issues. Evacuation plans will be reviewed and updated as needed. Necessary training will be provided.**

Rationale: This language ensures an evacuation plan for the safety of all staff and students from day one and allows for specialized training if necessary

Section 2. Trespass and Disruptive Conduct.

A. When a situation such as trespassing, disorderly **or disruptive** conduct, or assault and battery occurs at a school **or school event**, the following procedures are to be followed:

1. The Principal should notify the Division of Safety and Security immediately by telephone. A letter with all details, including the names and addresses of witnesses, should be forwarded to the supervisor of the Division as soon as possible for further action. (In serious assault or battery cases, a copy of the letter ~~should~~ **must** be sent to the ~~Director of Pupil Personnel Services~~ **Chief Legal Counsel**.)
2. Principals and teachers are advised to undertake the filing of complaints in Cleveland ~~Metropolitan Municipal~~ **only** with the assistance of the ~~Division of Pupil Personnel Legal Department~~ **Chief Legal Counsel supervisor of the Division** will assign a liaison representative upon receiving the letter of referral if court action is deemed appropriate.
4. If the matter is brought to trial, ~~the Division a District~~ representative will be present to assist at the hearing.

B. Cases involving trespassers **who are CMSD students** under eighteen (18) years of age should be referred to the ~~Division of Pupil Personnel Legal Department~~ **Division of Safety and Security**.

D. Trespassing regulations shall be enforced **for persons other than students, staff and faculty** as prescribed in the Board of Education Resolution No. 32827. (Appendix B). All employees covered by this Agreement should become familiar with this resolution.

Rationale: Clarifies the protocol for dealing with disruptive conduct.

ARTICLE 15 - POLICY AND PROCEDURES GOVERNING SOCIAL EMOTIONAL LEARNING, STUDENT DISCIPLINE, AND MISCONDUCT

Section 5. Removal for Educational Intervention.

~~*Move following paragraph to new Section 31* An intervention specialist will be identified and scheduled to provide services to students with IEPs in the Planning Center for a minimum of two (2) periods every day. If no students with IEPs are assigned to the Planning Center for that day, these periods shall be unassigned periods. Assignment to the Planning Center should be voluntary. Intervention specialists must submit in writing to both the principal and chapter chairperson their willingness to volunteer for the Planning Center assignment in lieu of a teaching assignment. If sufficient volunteers are not available to meet the needs of the Planning Center assignment, the principal and chapter chairperson shall determine the fairest and most appropriate solution. No intervention specialist shall be involuntarily assigned to the Planning Center for two (2) consecutive school years. The intervention specialist assigned to the Planning Center will not replace or serve in lieu of the Planning Center Instructional Aide (PCIA).~~

Rationale: This language was moved to a more logical spot in the contract.

Section 6. Chapter Chairperson Responsibilities Related to Student Discipline.

Section 10. Assault **and or** Battery on an Employee.

Rationale: Language reflects a broader scope of incidences. Clears up inconsistent language.

B. The procedure to be followed in cases of serious assault or battery on an employee by a pupil in the course of employment is:
2. Responsibility of the Principal/Building Leader after receiving a copy of the Pupil/Employee Incident Form:

b. The investigation shall be completed within ~~one~~ **two (2)** business days of the time the bargaining unit member submits the Pupil/Employee Incident Form. **During the investigation, the student shall not be assigned to the impacted Bargaining Unit Member's class.**

Rationale: This language allows reasonable time for an investigation to occur but does not allow the student to return to the classroom during the investigation.

Section 13. Faculty Meetings on Discipline.

B. Principals shall inform the faculty of security ~~guard~~ **guard personnel** responsibilities and their relationship to the school staff. Principals shall be responsible **for communicating with the security personnel and/or their supervisor regarding performance concerns. the performance of security guards.**

Rationale: Provides clarity on how building security concerns will be addressed.

Section 16. Aggravation Intraschool Transfer.

Students shall not be transferred from one class to another within a school after ~~ADM-1 week adjustments are made on~~ the first day of the second marking period, unless the teacher(s) involved agree to the transfer, barring unforeseen special circumstances which may prevail; e.g., racial balance, parental concerns, testing recommendations, etc. If unforeseen special circumstances do prevail, the teacher(s) involved will be informed of such circumstances in writing.

Rationale: Reflects current practice and clarifies language.

Section 26. Security Guards Mobile Patrol Officers.

The District shall ensure there is at least one (1) armed ~~security officer~~ **mobile patrol officer** assigned to each of the District's high schools and other schools as identified by the CEO.

Rationale: Reflects current positions. Only mobile patrol officers are armed in the buildings.

Section 30. Planning Center Intervention Program.

The PCIA positions will be posted and interviewed. PCIA's in these positions will be provided with professional development on the program's procedures and instructional content. **When there are no students assigned to the Planning Center, the PCIA shall complete PCIA related duties including filing student information for SEL documentation, mentoring students one-on-one or in small groups (e.g. anger management, conflict resolution), providing behavioral interventions, and responding to early warning signs (de-escalation) in conjunction with the classroom teacher.**

Rationale: Clarifies the scope of the responsibilities of the PCIA when no students are assigned to the Planning Center.

[**New Section 31, all others move down, moved from Section 5**] An intervention specialist will be identified and scheduled to provide services to students with IEPs in the Planning Center for a minimum of two (2) periods every day. **These ten (10) periods per week must be considered when completing staffing for special education.** If no students with IEPs are

assigned to the Planning Center for that day, these periods shall be unassigned periods. Assignment to the Planning Center should be voluntary. Intervention specialists must submit in writing to both the principal and chapter chairperson their willingness to volunteer for the Planning Center assignment in lieu of a teaching assignment. If sufficient volunteers are not available to meet the needs of the Planning Center assignment, the principal and chapter chairperson shall determine the fairest and most appropriate solution. No intervention specialist shall be involuntarily assigned to the Planning Center for two (2) consecutive school years. The intervention specialist assigned to the Planning Center will not replace or serve in lieu of the Planning Center Instructional Aide (PCIA).

Rationale: This language was moved from Section 5. These periods must be considered during staffing.

Section 32. Resolution of Grievances Arising under this Article.

A. The CTU and CMSD agree that the implementation of student discipline shall comply with federal and state law. Whenever possible, this Article shall be implemented consistent with federal and state law. If the District believes that this Article cannot be implemented consistent with federal or state law, the District shall notify the CTU in writing of the specific inconsistency and the parties shall attempt to resolve the inconsistency. If the parties are not able to reach an agreement, the matter shall be referred to expedited arbitration, as outlined in ~~Section C below~~ Article 6.

~~B. A specific purpose panel of seven (7) arbitrators shall be appointed to conduct expedited arbitration hearings of grievances alleging a violation of Article 15. Upon execution of this Agreement, the CTU and the District each shall nominate five potential members of said panel. Individuals nominated by both the CTU and the District shall automatically be included on the panel. The remaining panel members shall be selected through the alternate strike method.~~

C. Any grievance alleging a violation of Article 15 shall be filed by the CTU with the Director of Labor Relations, who shall have five (5) work days to attempt to resolve same to the satisfaction of the employee, CTU and the Principal. If such a resolution is not achieved, **the CTU may proceed to expedited arbitration under Article 6.** ~~CTU's Director of Grievances and the District's Director of Labor Relations shall jointly contact members of the special purpose panel on a rotating basis. The first such panel member available to hear the grievance and issue a written decision within ten (10) work days of her/his appointment shall be chosen to hear and rule~~

Rationale: Modifies grievance procedures for Article 15.

ARTICLE 16 - STUDENT GRADING AND STUDENT PROMOTION PROCEDURES

Section 3. Organization for Grade Reporting.

B. **Marks/Grades** will be issued each quarter, and credit will be given at the completion of each semester.

Rationale: Reflects current grading practices at a variety of schools.

Section 8. Grade Books.

A. Grade books purchased by the teacher are the property of the teacher. The information contained in any grade book or any other method of grade data storage

employed by the teacher (including but not limited to computer storage) is the property of the District and represents a confidential assessment of student performance to be shared with a Principal or higher level administrator of the District, other District professionals responsible for the instruction of the student, and the parent/guardian only.

Regardless of the method the teacher chooses to employ to maintain his/her grades, grades as reflected in the grade book shall be available to be shared by the teacher with the Principal and other District professionals responsible for the student's education, including the parent/guardian. Teachers will complete and submit to Principals report cards or grade scan sheets at the close of each marking period. No other group with the exception of law enforcement agencies has any right to receive information from a grade book. A teacher may choose to voluntarily cooperate with any other such request based upon current District policy. **The district and the CTU agree to continue to explore online grade reporting systems.**

B. If grade books are collected at the end of the school year, teachers shall have reasonable access to a copier to make a copy of the grade book. If the grade book belongs to the District, the teacher shall retain the copy. If the grade book or other method, including computer storage, belongs to the teacher, the teacher shall make a copy of the grades which shall be retained by the District. The District shall provide ~~computer disks~~ **a means (e.g. jump drive)** for copying grade information to teachers who elect to store grades electronically. The grade book or copy of the information in the grade book or data storage system retained by the District shall be available to the teacher in the next school year.

Rationale: Reflects current practice.

ARTICLE 18 - PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT AND PROCEDURAL PROTECTION

Section 1. Professional Conduct.

G. If the administrator designated by the chief executive officer recommends to the chief executive officer that the employee be terminated or placed on disciplinary suspension without pay, the chief executive officer shall review the evidence and determine whether termination or disciplinary suspension without pay is warranted. The chief executive officer shall make a **written** recommendation regarding discipline at the next scheduled meeting of the board. **A copy of the recommendation must be given to the employee and the CTU representative a minimum of one (1) working day prior to the board meeting. However, if the recommendation of the CEO is to increase the discipline recommended by the administrator, the CEO shall meet with the employee and his/her CTU representative prior to transmitting the recommendation to the board. This meeting will not be delayed due to the unavailability of the employee and/or the CTU representative.** The board may adopt or modify the chief executive officer's recommendation, except that the board shall not increase the recommended discipline. The board shall notify the employee of any action taken by the board on the chief executive officer's recommendation. Any termination or disciplinary suspension without pay imposed by the board shall take effect immediately.

Rationale: Provides timely notice and opportunity for the member to meet with the CEO if recommended discipline is being increased.

ARTICLE 19 - LAY-OFFS AND RECALLS

Section 1. Lay-off Guidelines.

E. For the purposes of lay-off, no later than August 1 of each year, the District shall establish the potential lay-off order based upon Sections B through D above **and provide an electronic copy to the CTU President**. The established list shall be in effect for any lay-off from August 1 through July 31 of the following school year. **The parties agree the list must be accurate. The list will be corrected as necessary.** The CTU President and CEO shall have the right to mutually agree to change this timeline.

Rationale: This is new contract language to streamline the exchange of information between CTU and CMSD and allows info to be corrected as necessary.

ARTICLE 21 - LEAVES OF ABSENCE

Section 1. Sick Leave.

I. Employees may use sick leave, upon approval of the responsible administrative officer of the employing unit, for absence due to personal illness, pregnancy, injury, exposure to contagious diseases which could be communicated to other employees, and to illness, injury or death in the employee's immediate family — Ohio Revised Code — Sections 124.38 **and 3319.141**.

Section 2. Leave of Absence for Extended Illness.

A. Employees requesting a leave of absence due to extended illness will use the Leave of Absence Form found in Appendix F. **Employees requesting an intermittent leave will use the Leave of Absence form found in Appendix F. Requests for leaves of absence must be submitted to the Talent Department thirty (30) calendar days in advance when the need for a leave of absence is foreseeable. Employees will receive notification of the Talent Department's determination within ten (10) business days of the receipt of the request.**

Rationale: Sets timelines for leaves.

Section 4. Sabbatical Leave.

B. Employees requesting a sabbatical leave will ~~request a~~ **use the Sabbatical Leave Form (Appendix F) from Human Resources at the Administration Building.**

Rationale: language clean up

New Section 5. (all others move down). Jury Duty Leave

- A. When a bargaining unit member receives notification pertaining to jury service from the court, the employee will notify his/her immediate supervisor and the Talent Office so that appropriate arrangements can be made.**
- B. Employees on jury duty will be compensated at their regular rate of pay for the number of hours regularly worked. To offset costs to the employee, the employee shall retain any compensation received from the court.**
- C. Employees are required to notify the Talent Office and to report to work if jury duty is cancelled for any of the scheduled days.**

Rationale: Members no longer have to submit money received for jury duty to the district.

Section 5. Special Privilege Leave.

A. Consideration will be given to written requests for special privilege leave (not exceeding three (3) days in any school year) which cannot be legally charged to sick leave. These shall include:

6. Taking an employee's child to or picking an employee's child up from college.

Rationale: Adds an additional reason for using an SPL day during the first or last 10 days of school.

B. Fractional use of special privilege leave shall be allowed in ~~one-half (1/2)~~ **0.125** day increments.

C. Except in an emergency, ~~such~~ **all requests for special privilege leave** must be directed to the ~~designated Academic Superintendent~~ **employee's immediate supervisor** well in advance of the date. Such leave shall be granted without loss of pay and shall not be deducted from the employee's accumulated sick leave.

Rationale: SPL and sick leave increments match and submission reflects current practice.

Section 7. Assault Leave.

A. Definition. For the purpose of being eligible for an assault leave, an assault is defined as **1) any deliberate inappropriate touching by another or an object that was under the control of another that causes serious physical, psychological or emotional harm or 2) reckless conduct that cause serious physical, psychological or emotional harm** ~~a physical injury inflicted by intentional or unintentional actions of others~~ in violation of school policies and regulations upon an employee in the course of employment or at a District sponsored event which results in a physical disability which precludes an employee from working. In order to be eligible for assault leave benefits under this section, the employee must report the assault to the Principal or other District Administrator as soon as possible.

~~B. Psychological or Emotional Trauma. An employee who suffers medically diagnosable psychological or emotional trauma resulting from a physical assault committed in the course of the employee's employment or at a District sponsored event which precludes the employee from working may also be granted an assault leave. If an employee applies for an assault leave, he/she shall also apply for Workers Compensation at the same time. Assistance to apply for Workers Compensation shall be provided by the District to employees who apply for assault leave.~~

~~E. The requirements of the preceding paragraphs of this section shall be prospectively applied to employees on assault leave as of September 1, 1993.~~

Rationale: Clarifies the definition and matches the current assault language in Article 15.

Section 12. Leave Without Pay.

A. **Short Term Unpaid Leave.** Upon five (5) working days' notice, a bargaining unit member may be granted up to ten (10) days leave without pay, if approved by the Principal **and the Chief Talent Officer/designee** ~~and the Deputy Chief of Human Resources or her/his designee~~. **If the leave is not approved, the Chief Talent Officer/designee will provide in writing the specific reason(s) for the denial.**

B. Long Term Unpaid Leave. When an employee has exhausted his/her accumulated sick leave, and is still unable to return to work due to illness or other disability, the employee may request and shall be granted unpaid leave for a period of no more than two (2) school years as provided by Section 3319.13 O.R.C.

Rationale: If an unpaid leave is denied, a reason must be given.

ARTICLE 23 - WORKING CONDITIONS FOR SPECIAL GROUPS – CERTIFICATED PERSONNEL

Preamble. ~~Adult Education Instructors,~~ Guidance Counselors, LD Tutors, Nurses, Occupational Therapists, Physical Therapists, Psychologists, Social Workers, Speech Language Pathologists and all other educational service providers employed by the District, including art, music and physical education teachers, are entitled to an equitable share in each building's funds and resources for each school year. Building budgets will take into account the needs of each of the educational service providers assigned to that building each school year. Educational service providers will be provided access to the photocopying facilities, ~~typewriters~~ and computers/**laptops** available in their building(s). Space will be provided with access to a telephone line, lockable file cabinets and other supplies, as appropriate. In addition, educational service providers will be offered the opportunity to receive appropriate computer training during professional days during the life of this Agreement. Finally, the District will ~~develop, purchase and/or utilize a method of providing~~ **provide** school nurses with access to students' emergency information.

Rationale: Updates language and reflects current practice

Section 2. Media Specialists.

A. Library Committee. A conference-type Library Committee will be formed with Union representatives from the elementary and secondary school libraries to meet on a regularly scheduled basis with the ~~Director of Educational~~ **Administrator responsible for** Media Services.

~~C. Elementary/K-8 Media Specialists. In elementary/K-8 schools where there is more than one (1) media specialist assigned to a building, the Supervisor of Media Services will designate one as media specialist in charge.~~

Rationale: Move to legacy, language no longer reflects current practice but is retained if needed for the future.

Section 3. School Nurses.

P. The supervisor of the Nurses shall post all extra assignments outside the school day at CMSD events electronically to all eligible Nurses. The assignments will be given based on system seniority and compensated at the prorated daily rate.

Rationale: Creates a process and pay rate for assignments outside of the regular school day.

Section 4. Speech Language Pathologists/Audiologists.

A. Speech language pathologists/**audiologists** shall be required to contact only the school(s) to which they are assigned for that day if they are going to be absent.

B. The District agrees to post vacant speech language pathologists/**audiologists** positions.

C. The following items are relevant to speech language pathologists/**audiologists** and are appropriate subjects for the **Joint Special Education Committee** ~~Labor Management Council~~:

Availability of any other equipment necessary to perform comprehensive hearing and hearing aid performance evaluations.

Rationale: Language reflects inclusion of audiologists and the availability of needed equipment.

Section 5. School Psychologists.

C. Working Conditions at Psychological Services Office.

3. Access to ~~typewriter and~~ duplicating facilities.
4. Access to computers ~~terminals~~ to expedite report writing and maintain timeline constraints.

F. The following items relevant to school psychologists are appropriate subjects for the ~~Labor Management Council~~ **Joint Special Education Committee**: Confidential work stations, access to computers ~~terminals~~ and input on future software purchases.

Rationale: Update language and reflects current practice.

Section 6. ~~Work Study~~ Transition Coordinator Teacher Consultants.

~~Work Study~~ **Transition Coordinator** Teacher Consultants will be assigned as required by state statutes and regulations with input from the CTU.

Rationale: Update language and reflects current practice.

Section 7. Guidance Counselors.

A. When student/guidance counselors enrolled in practicum courses are assigned to a regular school counselor for training, the regular counselor shall be provided the same compensation from the college as that received by teachers assigned to student trainees, **per Article 10, Section 7.**

Rationale: References relevant article.

Section 11. ~~New Teachers.~~ (move to Article 8, Section 1. Renumber remaining sections)

~~A. New teachers shall receive a letter of intent as an offer of employment. This letter will clearly spell out salary provisions and conditions of employment to be effected by the contract.~~

~~B. Those new teachers hired as substitutes shall be duly informed through writ-ten notice of their substitute status.~~

Rationale: Moved to a more logical place in contract.

Section 15. ~~Peer Math and Literacy~~ Instructional Coaches.

The District and the CTU have agreed to the following provisions regarding certain terms and conditions for employment for bargaining unit members selected as Peer ~~Literacy Coach and Peer Mathematics~~ **Instructional** Coach. The immediate supervisors for these coaching positions will be assigned by the District and those names will be shared with CTU.

~~A. Teachers selected as Peer Literacy Coaches will possess a valid Ohio Teaching Certificate/License in K-8, 1-8, or 4-9 (ELA) and a valid Reading Endorsement and/or a Masters Degree in Reading.~~

~~B. Teachers selected as Peer Mathematics Coaches will possess a valid Ohio Teaching Certificate/License in K-8, 1-8, or 4-9 (Math) and preferably a Masters Degree in Mathematics.~~

~~C. Teachers selected as Peer Literacy Coaches will possess five years or more of successful teaching experience in Reading K-8 within the CMSD.~~

D. Teachers selected as Peer ~~Mathematics~~ **Instructional** Coaches will possess five years or more of successful teaching experience ~~in Mathematics K-8~~ within the CMSD.

E. Teachers selected ~~for the respective positions as Peer Instructional Coaches~~ shall be required to engage in identified professional development outside the regular school day and school year, including AFT/ER&D Reading or Mathematics components. However, this professional development time shall not exceed the equivalent of fifteen (15) professional development days and shall be in addition to the professional development provided for in Article 9, Section 2. Participants shall be paid at the appropriate in-service rate.

Rationale: Reflects current practice and positions.

New Section 16 (all others move down). Career and Technical Education Teachers.

A. Middle grades/middle schools may include career and technical education courses as part of the menu of Encore/ESP classes available.

B. Beginning in the 2017-18 school year, the district and the CTU shall survey parents and students as to types of career and technical courses that should be offered. This data will be considered as the district considers future course offerings for students.

Rationale: Adds Career and Tech Choices as an option for Middle Grade ESP/Encore.

Section 17. Job Sharing.

G. Job sharing partnerships must last through one (1) full school year and are subject to the approval of the Principal(s) for teaching positions or the ~~Deputy Chief of Human Resources~~ **Chief Talent Officer** or his/her designee for related service providers.

H. ~~Benefits also shall be available on a pro rata basis.~~ **The job share partners shall collectively be entitled to benefits for one full-time equivalent. The partners may elect to prorate benefits or agree that one partner collect full benefits. If both partners decline benefits, the opt-out will be prorated.**

For example, if two (2) teachers and/or related service providers equally share a position, each teacher and/or related service provider will be paid 50% of the salary she/he would otherwise earn and be entitled to 50% of the total benefits paid by the Board under this Agreement. Any difference between 100% paid coverage and the pro rata entitlement shall be paid by the teacher and/or related service provider via payroll deduction. **Additionally, the job share partners could agree that one partner receive 100% paid coverage and the other partner forego coverage.**

Rationale: Job share partners collectively receive benefits for one Full Time Equivalent position.

Section 20. Differential Positions.

A maximum of two annual differentials will be paid to a ~~teacher bargaining unit member~~. However, if there are no qualified applicants, a maximum of four (4) differentials (no

more than ~~two (2)~~ **three (3)** of which are coaching activities) may be paid to any one ~~teacher~~ **bargaining unit member**. A regular contract teacher who has a differential position and who receives an extension on the regular contract will not receive additional pro-rated differential compensation because of the regular contract extension.

Rationale: Increases the maximum number of coaching differentials if there are no other qualified applicants and clarifies who is eligible.

ARTICLE 24 - WORKING CONDITIONS FOR SPECIAL GROUPS NON-CERTIFICATED PERSONNEL

Non-certificated personnel include all paraprofessionals ~~and sign language/educational interpreters.~~

Section 1. — Sign Language/Educational Interpreters.

~~The District shall adopt and implement the State of Ohio job description for Educational Interpreters as may be hereafter modified by the state.~~

Rationale: moved to new Article 25

Section 2 1. Paraprofessionals.

A. Definition. Paraprofessionals are classified employees who are trained to provide assistance to a teacher or administrator in carrying out program objectives, program related clerical duties, student supervision and classroom control, **but not to perform office clerical duties**. The term “paraprofessionals” excludes social workers and sign language/educational interpreters and includes the following classifications:

Rationale: Clarifies paraprofessionals are not to be assigned to office clerical duties.

~~**Immediately prior to an Instructional Assistant’s initial assignment or when there is a change in assignment of disability category (i.e. move from MH to ED or OH), the Instructional Assistant will job shadow for two days with an Instructional Assistant who is assigned to a classroom with the same responsibilities and job duties as the new Instructional Assistant’s classroom. Recommendations for job shadow opportunities will be through collaboration between the special education department and Human Resources. Human Resources will notify principals when the job shadow is taking place.**~~

Rationale: move to new letter H below.

7. Hearing Officers. Conduct hearings with students referred to the Office of Student Hearings and Appeals; ensure students are afforded due process; determine disposition and make recommendations regarding discipline; assist in the development and implementation of intervention strategies following discipline hearings; make referrals to schools/community resources.

8. Technology and Educational Support Assistant. Assists students with technology needs; sets-up access to computer programs; provides basic technical assistance and troubleshooting for students, teachers, classrooms, and technology labs. Technology and Educational Support Assistants can be assigned to serve a single classroom/lab or multiple classrooms/labs. Technology and Educational Support Assistants cannot be assigned to directly supervise students in lieu of a certificated/licensed classroom teacher. This position is separate and distinct from

the District's Instructional Technology Manager position which is a non-bargaining unit position.

Rationale: Establishes language for current categories of paraprofessionals

[Family Liaisons. Move to Appendix D.]

G. Paraprofessionals are assured employment for the school year in which they are employed, but not necessarily at the same job site. Every month a list of paraprofessional open positions shall be sent to each building, to the CTU office ~~and shall be posted outside Human Resources~~. The list shall show the building and the classification of disability category including the grade span. Paraprofessionals shall have the same opportunity for Open Positions, and for Necessary and Special Transfer rights as teachers in Article 12.

New section H, (all others move down)(Moved from above and revised, revisions underlined and/or bolded) ~~Immediately prior to an Instructional Assistant's~~ Effective with the 2017-2018 school year, within the first ten (10) days of a Paraprofessional's initial assignment, or when there is a change in assignment of disability category (i.e.g. move from MH to ED or OH), ~~the Instructional Assistant's~~ a Paraprofessional, upon request to his/her building principal, will be given the opportunity to job shadow for up to two days with an ~~Instructional Assistant~~ Paraprofessional who is assigned to a classroom ~~with and has~~ the same responsibilities and job duties as the new ~~assignment Instructional Assistant's~~ classroom. Recommendations for job shadow opportunities will be through collaboration between the special education department and ~~Human Resources~~ the Talent Department. ~~Human Resources~~ The Talent Department will notify principals when the job shadow is taking place.

J. The District shall make a good faith effort to identify and employ substitutes for paraprofessionals. Substitutes for paraprofessionals shall be made available when mandated by law. Paraprofessional substitutes shall be eligible for health care benefits as stated Article 29, Section 1 (D).

When a substitute has completed 120 days or more during the school year, and is re-employed for, or assigned to a specific paraprofessional position for the coming year, he/she will be hired as a regular paraprofessional and will be subject to the 60-day probationary period.

Rationale: Establishes a process for para subs to move into a full time position.

M. Paraprofessional Personal Needs. Paraprofessionals shall be provided reasonable opportunities to attend to personal needs during the course of the working day. **Effective with the 2017-2018 school year, paraprofessionals are entitled to one scheduled break of fifteen (15) minutes to attend to personal needs. In addition, each paraprofessional is entitled to a second scheduled break of an additional ten (10) minutes for personal needs. Where possible, this ten (10) minutes break will be scheduled adjacent to their scheduled lunch. These breaks will be scheduled mutually by the paraprofessional and the principal.**

Rationale: Provides two personal needs breaks to be scheduled during the day and could be scheduled concurrently with lunch.

Q. Collaboration Training. ~~If grant funds are obtained for this purpose, or funds are identified in a school's approved AAP for this purpose,~~ The District shall institute teacher-

paraprofessional training in collaboration when a teacher or a paraprofessional **does** not have previous collaboration experience. This training, **to be conducted during district-wide professional development days**, will be coordinated by written mutual agreement between the administration and the Paraprofessional UCC. **Those teachers and paraprofessionals who have not previously had training in collaboration shall be required to attend this collaboration training.**

Rationale: Increases opportunity for paraprofessional professional development and collaboration.

Section 3. Voluntary Professional Development for Paraprofessionals and Occupational/Physical Therapy Assistants and Sign Language/Educational Interpreters.

There are voluntary professional development days for paraprofessionals and **occupational/physical therapy assistants** ~~sign language/educational interpreters~~. The first day will be contiguous with the first day of the school year and the remaining two voluntary professional development days will be scheduled by individual school buildings as determined by written mutual agreement, between the Principal and the UCC. As an example, these days may be scheduled on Saturdays, evenings or during the summer. These three (3) voluntary professional days shall be paid at the participants' daily rate. ~~When paraprofessionals and sign language/educational interpreters move to a differentiated compensation system, these voluntary professional development days shall be rolled into that system.~~

NEW ARTICLE 25 [Renumber other articles]: SIGN LANGUAGE/EDUCATIONAL INTERPRETERS

Section 1. Sign Language/Educational Interpreters.

- A. The District shall adopt and implement the State of Ohio job description for Educational Interpreters, as may be hereafter modified by the state.**
- B. Full-time sign language/educational interpreters shall work seven and three-fourths (7 $\frac{3}{4}$) hours per day, excluding lunch (38 and $\frac{3}{4}$ hours per week), and will receive a minimum of thirty (30) minutes uninterrupted, unpaid time each day for lunch.**
- C. Effective with the 2017-2018 school year, sign language/educational interpreters will receive a minimum of 100 minutes per week of planning time and a minimum of fifty (50) minutes per week of administrator designed time.**
- D. JSEC shall review the procedures for open positions and necessary transfers for Sign Language/Educational Interpreters from a "district-wide" (versus school assignment) perspective. To the extent the recommended procedures deviate from the collective bargaining agreement (Article 12, Sections 1 and 2), the recommendations will be shared with the Union President and CEO for approval. For purposes of special transfers under Article 12, Section 3(B), the Executive Director of Intervention Services shall first meet with the Interpreter, the Supervisor, and the CTU President or designee. All other provisions of Article 12, Section 3 shall apply.**

- E. Sign Language/Educational Interpreters shall not be given the responsibility of the classroom or be expected to teach lessons; however, Sign Language/Educational Interpreters are expected to work with students who are deaf or hard of hearing, assisting the students to better comprehend the presented lesson and assisting the students in communicating with the teacher(s) and other students in the classroom. Sign Language/Educational Interpreters are also expected to collaborate with the classroom teacher to ensure that the Sign Language/Educational Interpreter has a proficient level of understanding needed to understand the goals of the lesson and the academic vocabulary.**
- F. As members of the IEP Team, Sign Language/Educational Interpreters are responsible for the creation of IEP goals as necessary.**
- G. Sign Language/Educational Interpreters shall be paid as outlined in Article 30, Appendix A.**
- H. When Sign Language/Educational Interpreters lay-offs are necessary, any lay-offs will follow the process set forth in Article 19.**
- I. The supervisor of the sign language/educational interpreters shall post all extra assignments outside the school day at CMSD events electronically to all eligible sign language/educational interpreters. The assignments will be given based on system seniority and compensated at the prorated daily rate.**

Rationale: Establishes specific terms and conditions for sign language/educational interpreters.

OLD ARTICLE 25 - COMMITTEES AND PROJECTS

Section 3. Intervention Team. (Moved from Article 6, Section 13)

The District agrees to establish, on a pilot basis and under the auspices of the Labor Management Council, an Intervention Team to facilitate the resolution of problems at the school level between CTU bargaining unit members and school administration.

The Intervention Team shall be comprised of three (3) Principals, three (3) CTU bargaining unit members, and shall be chaired by a mutually agreed upon neutral third party. Intervention Team members shall be appointed by the Labor Management Council (LMC).

The purpose of the Intervention Team will be to work directly with the staff and administration at buildings identified by the LMC to improve working relationships and enhance the educational environment at the school. Intervention Team members will receive training in conflict resolution, group problem solving, and other techniques relevant to the Team's mission and purpose as determined by the LMC.

The Intervention Team will report its findings and recommendations to the LMC concerning each school to which it is assigned and shall otherwise keep the LMC apprised of its activities under procedures to be developed by the LMC.

The LMC shall approve or modify the Intervention Team's findings and recommendations and shall submit a report as approved or modified with recommendations to the CEO, the appropriate Academic Superintendent, and the CTU President.

Rationale: Moved unchanged to a more logical place in the contract from Article 6

Section 3 4. Medicaid Provider Subcommittee Committee.

A joint subcommittee of the Joint Special Education Committee, made up of at least one (1) bargaining unit member selected by the CTU President from of each Medicaid provider group and their supervisor, will be established to make recommendations to the Joint Special Education Committee with regard to the maximization of both Medicaid reimbursement and efficiency of Medicaid reporting processes ~~Community Alternative Funding System for approval by the end of the 1996-97 school year. The CTU President (or designee) and the CEO (or designee) will determine the make-up of the committee.~~

Rationale: Revise and enhance the current committee to improve the efficiency of Medicaid reporting.

Section 5 6. Joint Committee on ~~Class Size Reduction and School Performance/Attendance Incentives.~~

This committee shall be comprised of six members, three appointed by the CTU President and three appointed by the CEO. ~~One of the functions of the Committee is to seek necessary funding from federal, state and local sources to reduce class size and to research the availability of community resources. In addition,~~ This Committee will determine how to recognize schools that excel in educating Cleveland's children. In determining eligibility for school performance/attendance incentives, the Committee will consider all factors which have an impact on student success including, but not limited to, student achievement, student attendance, and such other items as might be agreed upon by the CEO and the CTU President. The Committee is also charged with determining possible forms of recognition for eligible buildings. The Committee shall make written recommendations to the LMC for approval. The recommendations of the LMC shall then be provided to the CTU President and the CEO for final approval.

Rationale: Revise and enhance the current committee to improve school performance and attendance.

Section 6 7. Joint Committee on Early Childhood.

The purpose of this committee is to develop and expand a rigorous academic preschool program that prepares all CMSD students to enter kindergarten with the literacy and mathematics skills necessary to excel.

In order to accomplish this, the CTU and CMSD agree to formulate The Joint Committee on Early Childhood that will be comprised of the following: pre-school teacher, kindergarten teacher, special education teacher, and three administrators from the district's division of curriculum and instruction. This committee has the ability to invite in additional resource individuals as necessary. On an annual basis, the committee shall review the district's preschool program and professional development plan and recommend modifications which will increase student achievement gains to CTU and CMSD. ~~Beginning with 2007/08 school year, the~~ The district will ~~begin~~ continue to phase in an early childhood development unit into every K-8 building, **where possible.**

Rationale: Reflects current practice

ARTICLE 28 - BUILDING FACILITIES, SUPPLIES AND FUNDS

Section 3. Equipment and Supplies.

D. The district shall do a technology needs survey by the end of the 2017-18 school year. This includes assessing the needs of educators and students. The needs assessment will be reviewed by a joint CTU/CMSD Technology Taskforce of equal CTU (selected by the CTU President) and district (selected by the CEO) representatives in the summer of 2018, and will make recommendations regarding priorities for the upcoming year's technology investments to the CEO and CTU President. The CEO will consider the Taskforce's recommended technology priorities when planning the district's technology investment.

Rationale: Initiates a process for updating school technology.

Section 5. ~~Building Funds for Snow and Ice~~ Removal.

A. The District will act in a diligent and appropriate manner to remove snow and ice from sidewalks and parking lots. The District will use its best efforts to provide the appropriate equipment and materials necessary to address snow and ice conditions at its buildings.

B. Until such time as the District is able to effect a workable procedure for system-wide snow removal, the following procedure may be practiced: Money available in building funds that is not earmarked for specific projects may be used in paying for snow removal service when agreed upon in a written mutual agreement upon by the Principal and the UCC. Snow removal equipment must conform with specifications as set up by the District.

Rationale: Provides a process for removal of snow and ice.

Section 11. Vermin Eradication.

The District will act in a diligent and appropriate manner to address situations where vermin are sighted. These efforts may include the use of professional exterminators. Concerns about potential vermin infestations should be addressed to the appropriate worksite supervisor. Persistent concerns about potential vermin infestations should be addressed to the district's Executive Director of Facilities.

Rationale: Provides a process for removal of vermin.

Section 12. Repairing and Painting of Schools and Classrooms

Each year, the Principal, with input from the Chapter Chair may submit to the CEO/designee a list of priority repairs desired for their worksite. This list of priority repairs will be considered by the CEO/designee when preparing the annual facility maintenance plan and budget.

Rationale: Provides a process for school input regarding repairs.

ARTICLE 29 - EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Section 1. Eligibility.

For the purpose of this section regular employees entitled to employee benefits shall be defined as follows:

A. All certificated bargaining unit members ~~employed prior to December 31, 1996, who work between 19 and 30 or more~~ hours per week will be eligible for health insurance (including prescription drug) coverage (and are eligible for dental and vision care benefits) on the same terms as full-time employees. ~~Certificated employees hired after January 1, 1997, who work 19 hours or more per week, shall also be eligible for HealthSpan only single or family health insurance coverage.~~ **For employees in a job share the language in Article 23, Section 17 shall apply.**

Rationale: Memorializes current practice.

B. Non – certificated CTU bargaining unit members who work ~~between 19 and 30 or more~~ hours per week are eligible for health insurance (including prescription drug) coverage on the same terms and conditions as full-time employees.

C. No change.

D. Substitute Health Care Benefits. A substitute will be eligible to purchase health care benefits from the District after five (5) consecutive days in the same assignment. After 60 consecutive days in the same assignment he/she is entitled to full employee benefits. For health care purposes the substitute is eligible to enroll for health care benefits on the sixty-first (61) day in the assignment. He or she must enroll within thirty (30) days of becoming eligible for health care. Coverage is effective on the first of the month following the thirty (30) day enrollment period. A substitute may obtain health care coverage over the summer by assuming the cost of such coverage at the District's COBRA **equivalency** rate. (Article 29, Section 10.)

E. Working Spouse Insurance Coverage.

1. Except as provided in Sections 7 and 8 below, if a bargaining unit member enrolls his/her spouse in **any of** the District's health insurance ~~program plans~~ and that spouse is eligible to participate (either as a current employee or retiree) in group health insurance sponsored by his/her employer or retirement plan, the bargaining unit member shall pay a contribution of ~~\$75.00~~ **\$100.00** per month in addition to the employee monthly contribution for family coverage set forth in Section 2, below.

Rationale: Increases working spouse contribution so that those who have access to medical coverage can retain current coverage levels with CMSD.

2. No change.
3. No change.
4. Any bargaining unit member whose spouse becomes eligible for any employer/retirement plan sponsored group health insurance coverage ~~after any time outside of the annual~~ the open enrollment period shall notify the District within thirty days of **the initial eligibility date**.
5. No change.
6. Any spouse who fails to enroll in any group insurance coverage sponsored by his/her employer or retirement plan provider (unless the bargaining unit member

enrolls the spouse in ~~any~~ the District's **health insurance** plan and pays the ~~\$75.00~~ **additional** monthly contribution as set forth above), as otherwise required by this section, shall be ineligible for benefits under ~~the~~ **any** group health care/prescription drug ~~plan insurance coverage~~ sponsored by the District.

7. No change

Rationale: Housekeeping

Section 2. Medical Insurance.

A. Subject to the limitations of Section 1 and Section 2(E), during the enrollment period each year (November), each eligible employee, may elect either single or family coverage from one of the following health care provider plans: Aetna, ~~HealthSpan (formerly Kaiser Permanente HMO), or~~ Medical Mutual SuperMed Plus, **or UHChoice**. The level of health insurance, prescription drug insurance, dental, and vision coverage provided, or in the case of self-insurance, under the self-insurance program, will be the same as provided on **December 31, 2016**~~June 30, 2010~~, unless as otherwise set forth in Appendix P. **The effective date of coverage, other than for substitutes, shall be the first of the month following thirty (30) calendar days of employment.** ~~The level of healthcare benefits for these plans shall be the same as provided as of December 31, 2016.~~ All pre-existing conditions will be covered unless currently restricted by HIPAA guidelines.

Memorializes current practice.

Employees who enroll in either single or family coverage will pay the following employee contributions for Aetna, ~~HealthSpan,~~ **and** MMO SuperMed Plus PPO effective **January 1, 2018**~~October 1, 2013~~: An amount equal to ten percent (10%) of the monthly premium (**COBRA equivalency**) subject to the following monthly caps: (i) for single coverage - ~~\$75.00~~ **\$100.00** and (ii) for family coverage - ~~\$170.00~~ **220.00**. **Employees who enroll in either single or family coverage will pay the following employee contributions for UHChoice: (i) for single coverage - \$50.00 and (ii) for family coverage - \$120.00.**

Rationale: Replaces the defunct Kaiser/Healthspan with a comparable lower cost option and establishes monthly premiums.

However, if an employee/covered spouse annually voluntarily participates prior to the open enrollment period (1) in biometric testing consisting of Body Mass Index (BMI), glucose, blood pressure and cholesterol testing and (2) completes a health risk assessment, the above employee contribution shall be reduced to the following: (i) for Aetna and MMO—single coverage--\$75.00, family coverage--\$170.00; and (ii) for UHChoice—single coverage--\$35.00, family coverage--\$100.00. The tests and assessments shall be at no cost to the employee/covered spouse. Results will be shared only with the individual employee (in the case of a covered spouse, only with that spouse) and the employee's physician (in the case of the covered spouse, only with the covered spouse's physician). Where the District is the primary provider for healthcare to the employee and the employee's spouse, both the employee and spouse must successfully complete the testing and assessment to receive the lower rate set forth in this paragraph. ~~The employee may, at the employee's option, have the testing and/or assessment shall be conducted through the employee's physician (or, if the employee's spouse is being tested/assessed, by the spouse's physician).~~ The physician

shall complete the form attached as Appendix [] and submit that form to an independent third party mutually selected by the District and the CTU. That independent third party shall advise the District only that: (i) the employee/covered spouse has completed the above test and assessment; and (ii) the date of such completion. The District and the CTU will jointly ~~(i) educate the membership regarding the legal requirements that such information remain private and~~ (ii) promote participation in these tests.

Rationale: Establishes a wellness program in an effort to contain health care costs and lower premiums.

All members and covered spouses who voluntarily participate in the wellness program will maintain full health care coverage at current monthly premium.

If choosing UHChoice, premium will be reduced to \$35 single, \$100 family. Results of wellness is confidential between doctor and patient.

All employee contributions are made by payroll deduction **in equal installments twice each month.**

The District shall provide, at a minimum, the preventive services covered by the Affordable Care Act as of September 23, 2010 without any employee copayment or co-insurance or deductible. Those services are set forth in Appendix _____. The District's obligation shall continue without regard to the continuing existence of the Affordable Care Act.

In addition, the following coverage shall be maintained:

Preventive care: No change

Rationale: Wellness visits will continue to be covered in full.

B. No change.

~~C. Self-Insurance. The District may explore and implement self-insurance for any or all components of its health insurance program including medical, prescription, dental, and vision, provided (a) the level of benefits and services set forth in this agreement or any extensions thereof and the respective Certificates of Coverage are equal to or better than those in effect on September 1, 2010; (b) the disruption analysis of the non-HealthSpan network of providers and facilities is less than ten percent; (c) the self-insurance network will include both the University Hospitals Health Systems Network and the Cleveland Clinic Health Systems Network; (d) all pre-existing conditions will be covered unless currently restricted by HIPAA. The CTU will be involved in the development of the self-insurance program. Notwithstanding the above language, HealthSpan shall remain as an option through the end of the 2009-2010 school year and shall not be considered as part of the disruption analysis.~~

Rationale: Housekeeping – completed in 2007

D. Opt-Out Option. During the enrollment period each year, employees will be provided with the option of declining health insurance coverage for the ensuing year. Such elections are irrevocable until the next annual enrollment period. If the employee declines coverage for the year, he/she shall receive two semi-annual payments of \$250.00. These payments will be made in April and October. If the employee elects to change his/her coverage from family coverage to single (but would otherwise be eligible for continued family-coverage), he/she will receive two semi-annual payments of \$125.00, payable in April and October. Any employee who has opted-

out and **is eligible to re-enroll within the plan year due to a qualifying event** ~~has any change in spousal coverage may be eligible to re-enroll within the current year of employment provided that the employee returns a pro rata share of the payments received pursuant to this Section.~~

Rationale: Memorializes current practice.

E. No change.

F. **Hard Audit/Open Enrollment.** **Unless otherwise agreed by the District and the CTU, open enrollment shall be the entire month of November for coverage effective January 1 of the following year.** During the open enrollment period, or earlier if the District and CTU agree, the District shall have the right to conduct a hard audit requiring employees to produce acceptable documentation to establish eligibility for coverage for the employee as well as any claimed dependents and/or spouse. The required documentation may include, but is not limited to, birth certificates, custody decrees, marriage licenses, working spousal coverage, and/or verification of student status. The CTU and District have agreed that the District will commence a hard audit prior to the November ~~2013~~ **2018** Open Enrollment Period. That process will begin with announcements to employees in September, ~~2013~~ **2018**.

Section 3. Prescription Drug Plan.

All employees will be covered by a prescription drug program administered through a provider mutually agreeable to the parties. All employees covered by any medical plan will be covered by the Prescription Drug Plan as set forth in Appendix P. The level of benefits shall be the same as provided in the previous Collective Bargaining Agreement between the District and the CTU as provided by Medical Mutual of Ohio.

~~(Appendix P.)~~

Rationale: Maintains current prescription drug plan coverage.

Section 4. Shared Savings.

An employee shall be eligible to receive a payment from the District equal to one- half (1/2) of up to ~~\$500~~ **\$2,000** in savings recovered by the District where the savings result from the identification by the employee of errors in his/her hospital/surgical/medical bills.

Rationale: Increases amount of shared savings.

Section 5. Vision Care.

All employees will be covered by a vision care program administered through a provider mutually agreeable to the parties. The District will pay the full cost of this program. The level of vision care benefits shall be the same as provided in the previous Collective Bargaining Agreement between the District and the CTU as provided by ~~Spectera~~ **United Healthcare**.
(Appendix P.)

Rationale: updates name of current provider.

Section 6. Dental Plan.

All employees will be covered by a dental care program administered through a provider mutually agreeable to the parties. All employees will be covered by a Basic Dental Care program as set forth in Appendix P. The District will pay the full cost of this program. Employees may also elect to participate in the Enhanced Dental Plan program as set forth in Appendix P.

(Appendix P.)

Rationale: memorializes current practice.

Section 7. Blood-Borne Pathogen.

~~The District will follow its blood-borne pathogen exposure control plan when an employee has been involved in an exposure incident.~~

Rationale: Move to Article 28, Section 13, all other sections below renumbered.

Section 8. Section 125 Plan.

A. The District shall continue to provide a “Cafeteria Plan” which will: (a) allow employees who make employee contributions for health care coverage to elect to do on a pre-tax basis, (b) allow employees to elect to receive additional cash in lieu of Board paid health care coverage (as set forth herein), and (c) allow employees to elect to participate in the dependent care and medical care flexible spending accounts (“FSAs”) described in ~~paragraph C~~ below.

B. No change.

C. No change.

D. In addition, each bargaining unit member will be allowed to make a separate pre-tax “salary reduction” election up to the maximum amount allowed, but in no amount greater than **the established IRS limit for that tax year \$10,000** and receive a corresponding credit under a health care FSA. Under the health care FSA, reimbursement may be received for medical (including dental and vision care) expenses (under IRC Section 213) that are not otherwise reimbursable by the health care plans of the District or of another employee.

E. ~~To comply with the requirement of IRC Section 125, the~~ **Medical Care Flexible Spending Accounts (FSAs) will each have a \$500 non-expiring carry forward limit as defined by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS).** ~~2-1/2 month grace period ending March 15, 2014 for 2013 expenditure, during which amounts remaining in the FSAs at the end of 2013 can be expended for permissible benefits. However, at the end of that grace period, any remaining amounts will be forfeited. Beginning with the next plan year (January 1, 2014 through December 31, 2014), the District will transition its FSA’s to permit each bargaining unit member to carry over up to \$500 per year as a result of allowing for this carryover, the FSAs will no longer provide a 2 1/2 month grace period to utilize amounts from the previous year. Thus, there will be no grace period for unused 2014 amounts at the beginning of 2015~~

Rationale: memorializes current practice.

F. No change.

Section 9. Life Insurance.

The District shall underwrite the cost of \$10,000 group life insurance policy for all regular employees. The District also will provide employees with the option of purchasing up to ~~\$150,000~~ **\$300,000** of life insurance through payroll deduction up to the limits of the policies in effect, but not less than \$150,000.

Rationale: increase amount

Section 10. Extended Coverage.

A. No change.

B. Inactive Payroll Status. Health care/prescription drug and life insurance coverage may be continued for any employee who becomes payroll inactive (such as resignation or a leave of absence) as follows:

1. In order to continue health care/prescription drug insurance, the inactive employee will **be provided rights consistent with COBRA eligibility** ~~have to pay directly to the District the bill that will be received from the District or its designee.~~

Rationale: Housekeeping

2. No change.

C. Resignation and Retirement.

1. Bargaining unit members **whose separation date is on or after the end of the member's school year as set forth in the member's contract** ~~who resign after June 15th~~ will continue to receive District-paid health care/prescription drug insurance, **vision, dental care, and group life insurance protections** through August 31 (subject to the conditions set forth in Section 2 herein).

2. ~~Bargaining unit members who retire as of July 1st, will continue to receive paid health care/prescription drug insurance through August 31 (subject to the conditions set forth in Section 2 herein).~~

Except as provided above, health care/prescription drug, vision, dental, and group life insurance protection will be extended through the end of the month in which the employee separates from the District, whether due to retirement, resignation or termination.

Rationale: Clarifies current practice

Section 11. No change.

Section 13. No change.

Section 14. — Certification/Licensure Funding.

~~The District will offer a certification/licensure program as a pilot program. Up to fifty (50) bargaining unit members who decide to seek certification/licensure in a “high need” subject area, as defined by written mutual agreement of the District and the CTU, (e.g., Special Education, science, mathematics and bilingual education) are eligible for the District’s certification/licensure program in any given school year. This program provides funding for the cost of obtaining the certification/licensure up to a maximum of five thousand dollars (\$5,000) per employee. To be eligible, the employee must be continuously employed by the District while seeking the certification/licensure and continue in employment for five (5) years after becoming certified/ licensed. In addition, if a position within the “high need” area becomes vacant and is offered to the bargaining unit member, she/he must accept the position.~~

~~The interested employee may apply for assistance in securing the certification/ licensure in the high need area with the District’s Professional Development office by filing a Professional Development Plan outlining the proposed course of study to obtain the certification/licensure, including a proposed timeline for completion. If accepted, the employee will be provided funding, up to one thousand two hundred and fifty dollars (\$1,250) (less any applicable taxes) for each quarter of the certification/licensure program. Should the bargaining unit member not continue to progress toward completion of the program leading to the additional~~

~~certification/licensure, or should the bargaining unit member leave employment with the District less than 5 years after receiving the additional certification/licensure, the teacher will be obligated to repay all monies received, either through a deduction from his/her paycheck(s) or other legal means.~~

~~Rationale: Move to Article 25, Section 9.~~

~~**Section 15. Mileage.**~~

~~All bargaining unit members who are required to travel on school business (excluding travel to and from home) as part of their job responsibilities will receive the Internal Revenue Service mileage rate in effect at the time of travel. Bargaining unit members who choose to accept a second District position (for example, regular class room teachers who accept adult education positions) are not eligible for mileage when traveling from the primary position to the additional position.~~

~~Rationale: Move to Article 30, Section 10.~~

~~**Section 16. Parking Expenses.**~~

~~The District shall provide a monthly parking pass during working months to any CTU bargaining unit member involuntarily assigned to the Lakeside Administration Building as their primary assignment. Bargaining unit members who are reassigned to the Administration Building on an emergency basis will be reimbursed for parking expenses incurred while assigned to the Administration Building if no discipline results.~~

~~Rationale: Move 1st sentence to Article 30, Section 11 and the 2nd sentence to Article 18, Section 2 (K).~~

ARTICLE 30 - WAGES

Section 2. Wages and Other Compensation.

A. Effective July 1, 2016, all CTU bargaining unit members will receive a two percent (2%) increase in their base salary. Bi-weekly salaries will be adjusted no later than the first pay thirty (30) calendar days following ratification of this Agreement. All salary schedules in this Agreement, excluding differentials and supplemental differentiated stipends, shall likewise be increased by two percent (2%), unless otherwise noted in this Article or Appendix A. The increase in base salary for the 2016-2017 school year will take effect with the first pay thirty (30) calendar days following ratification. All retroactive increases for days/hours worked since July 1, 2016, will be paid no later than the second pay thirty (30) calendar days following ratification.

The CDCS schedule for certificated/licensed bargaining unit members, and all other salary schedules, with the exception of those listed in B and C below, and all differentials (excluding supplemental differentiated stipends and Test Coordinators) shall be increased by two and three-quarters percent (2.75%) effective July 1, 2017, and by an additional two and three-quarters percent (2.75%) effective July 1, 2018. These increases will be reflected in the corresponding salary schedule(s) listed in Appendix A.

Rationale: raises on base wages for all members of 2%, 2.75%, and 2.75%.

Raises on most differentials of 2.75% and 2.75%.

~~Effective with the 2013-2014-2016-2017 school year, all employees will receive a four percent (4%) in their increase base salary. There will be no adjustment for movement on the index (vertical or horizontal movement) for classroom teachers or RSP's. Classroom teachers will be placed on or between a level within a tier on the career pathway that reflects their adjusted compensation and licensure level per the Cleveland Differentiated Compensation Salary ("CDCS") Schedule, contained in Appendix T. Related service providers new to the District will be compensated pursuant to Appendix A in the 2010-2013 Agreement plus four percent (4%). All salary schedules in this Agreement, excluding differentials shall likewise be increased by four percent (4).~~

- B. Effective July 1, 2017, Instructional Assistants and corresponding job classifications and Instructional Aides and corresponding job classifications current salary (not including stipends for college credit) will be increased by two and three-quarters percent (2.75%) and then placed on the salary schedule effective July 1, 2017, in Appendix A, on the closest, next higher salary cell. Paraprofessionals and Technicians will move one (1) tier on the salary schedule every two (2) years.**

Effective July 1, 2018, Instructional Assistants and corresponding job classifications and Instructional Aides and corresponding job classifications, will receive a two and three-quarters percent (2.75%) increase in their base salary as reflected in the corresponding salary schedule(s) listed in Appendix A.

College Credit (CC) for paraprofessionals will be paid following the schedule in Appendix A. Voluntary Professional Development days (VPD) will follow the provisions found in Article 24.

Rationale: Creation of a new para salary schedule.

~~Paraprofessionals will receive a four percent (4%) increase in the employee's base salary. Paraprofessionals will continue to be compensated in accordance with the classified salary schedule.~~

- C. Effective July 1, 2017, Sign Language/Educational Interpreters current salary will be transitioned on the new salary schedule in Appendix A, on the level that correlates to their years of experience (e.g., one level for each two years of experience). The Sign Language/Educational Interpreters salary schedule will reflect 70% of the teacher salary schedule. Sign Language/Educational Interpreters receiving a Teacher Effectiveness Rating of "Developing" or above will move one (1) tier on the salary schedule every two (2) years.**

Effective July 1, 2018, Sign Language/Educational Interpreters will receive a two and three quarters percent (2.75%) increase in their base salary as reflected in the corresponding salary schedule(s) listed in Appendix A.

Rationale: Creation of a new sign language interpreter schedule.

C. ~~Any teacher hired on or after July 1, 2013 will be placed the CDCS Schedule based on procedures as outlined by the CDCS Joint Oversight Committee.~~ **New certificated/licensed bargaining unit members will be placed on the CDCS Schedule based upon those procedures previously established by the CDCS Joint Oversight Committee and as amended by mutual agreement of the CEO and CTU President. The currently established procedures are listed in Appendix A. Either party can request a review of the established procedures prior to January 15th annually. Prior to placing any new or returning certificated/licensed bargaining unit member above Level 1 on the Cleveland Differentiated Compensation System (CDCS) salary schedule, the District will review and confirm the proposed placement with the CTU President or his/her designee.**

Rationale: Explanation of salary placement for new hires.

~~D. Effective with the 2015-2016 school year, there shall be an across the board increase of one percent (1%) for all employees. Likewise the CDCS Schedule, as well as all other salary schedules, excluding differentials, shall be increased by one percent (1%).~~

D. Effective with the 2017-2018 school year, any certificated/licensed bargaining unit member receiving a Teacher Effectiveness Rating of “Accomplished” shall receive a \$4,000.00 one-time stipend immediately following the year in which the designation was earned and shall be paid no later than thirty (30) working days after the eTPES data is locked and approved by the state. Sign Language/Educational Interpreters receiving a Teacher Effectiveness Rating of “Accomplished” shall receive seventy percent (70%) of this stipend.

For purposes of transition, certificated/licensed bargaining unit members who received an “Accomplished” rating during the 2016-2017 school year will move on the 2016-2017 salary schedule for the 2017-2018 school year and will be exempt from evaluation and growth measures for the 2017-2018 school year. These members will receive the stipend for “Accomplished” teachers no later than September 15, 2018.

Rationale: Stipend for licensed/certificated bargaining unit members, including sign language interpreters, with “Accomplished” Effectiveness Rating.

E. Extended Day/Extended Year.

Any certificated/licensed bargaining unit member working over the normal 185 day school year **in the approved Board calendar**, shall be paid for each extended day at ~~the 2012-2013~~ **their daily per diem rate.** ~~If the extended day is solely for professional development, the employee shall be paid at the 2012-2013 Instructor In-Service Rate. Beginning with the 2014-2015 school year, these rates may be modified by the JOC.~~

Any certificated/licensed bargaining unit member working over the normal 440 minute school day shall be paid for the extended minutes at the ~~2012-2013~~ **daily per diem rate for that school year.** ~~Beginning with the 2014-2015 school year, this rate may be modified by the JOC.~~ Any certificated/licensed bargaining unit member whose worksite included an extended day during the 2012-2013 school year will be given a hold-harmless payment equivalent to the compensation for the additional minutes worked in the 2012-2013 school year less the amount

they will receive for the additional minutes outside the normal 440 minutes school day for as long as that member remains at that worksite.

This hold-harmless payment will be paid in equal 20/26 installments (**24 equal installments effective July 1, 2018**).

F. Members of the CTU bargaining unit shall be paid in accordance with the appropriate salary, differential, wage or other compensation schedule set forth in the Appendix A.

Rationale: Clarifies days of extended school year are paid at daily rate.

Section 3. Advancement on Differentiated Salary Schedule.

~~For purposes of transition to the CDCS Schedule, all~~ **All teachers licensed/certificated bargaining unit members who are between levels** will be placed **at the salary level above their current salary** at a level, or between two levels within **on the 2015-16 CDCS Schedule** contained in Appendix A **no later than 30 days after ratification of this Agreement, effective retroactively to July 1, 2016.** ~~T. The salary includes the 4% wage increase in Section 2(A). No employees' pay will be reduced as a result of being placed on the CDCS Schedule. Teachers will begin accumulating Achievement Credits ("ACs") during the 2013-2014 school year and will first be eligible to move to a new level on the pay scale within the career pathway, tiers and levels per the CDCS Memorandum of Understanding, Appendix T, during the 2014-2015 school year.~~

~~Teachers will receive a one-time \$1,500.00 bonus at the beginning of the 2014-2015 school year. All other bargaining unit members will receive a one-time \$1,500.00 bonus at the beginning of the school year in which they move to a differentiated compensation salary schedule.~~

Rationale: Ensures all licensed/certificated bargaining unit members who are between levels on the salary schedule are placed at the next highest level of the salary schedule.

All certificated/licensed bargaining unit members who accumulated 15 Achievement Credits by the conclusion of the ~~2015-2016~~ 2016-2017 school year will advance one (1) level on the ~~2015-2016~~ 2016-2017 CDCS Schedule. Certificated/licensed bargaining unit members who have accumulated eight (8) or more Achievement Credits at the conclusion of the ~~2015-2016~~ 2016-2017 school year earn evaluation based step credit equivalent to one (1) year for future step movement.

Rationale: Recognizes remaining Achievement Credits earned for movement on the salary schedule.

Beginning with the 2018-2019 school year, licensed/certificated bargaining unit members, including Sign Language/Educational Interpreters, and who receive a Teacher Effectiveness Rating of "Developing" or above for two consecutive years will move one (1) level at the beginning of the next school year on the appropriate salary schedule. Licensed/certificated bargaining unit members with evaluation based step credit from the conclusion of the 2016-2017 school year will be eligible to move one (1) level at the beginning of the 2018-2019 school year upon attainment of a "Developing" or higher Teacher Effectiveness rating at the conclusion of the 2017-2018 school year.

Certificated/licensed bargaining unit members, including Sign Language/Educational Interpreters, who earn a Teacher Effectiveness rating of

“Ineffective” will not receive evaluation based step credit and will not be eligible to move on the appropriate salary schedule until they have attained two (2) consecutive years of a Teacher Effectiveness Rating of “Developing” or above.

Rationale: Creates movement every two years on the salary scheduled for licensed/certificated bargaining unit members, including sign language interpreters, rated “Developing” or above.

Certificated/licensed bargaining unit members, including Sign Language/Educational Interpreters, with a Teacher Effectiveness Rating of “Accomplished” receive evaluation-based step advancement credit during their exemption year. Certificated/licensed bargaining unit members, including Sign Language/Educational Interpreters, with a Teacher Effectiveness rating of “Accomplished” may elect to either a) have a one (1) year exemption from TDES observation and SGM ratings without an additional evaluation-based stipend, or b) agree to be fully evaluated (including both TDES observation and SGM ratings) and be eligible for the evaluation-based stipend if their Teacher Effectiveness Rating is again “Accomplished”.

Section 4. New Teacher Pre-Service Training.

Certificated/licensed bargaining unit members, new to the District are required to report for pre-service training which is included in their base compensation.

Section 5. Procedure for Payment of Wages.

A. Annual salaries will be disbursed in twenty-six (26) bi-weekly installments.

Effective with the 2018-2019 school year, salaries will be disbursed in twenty-four (24) installments on the 5th and 20th of each month. If a payday falls on a weekend or holiday, the bargaining unit member will be paid on the preceding business day, as agreed in the MOU, attached as Appendix ____. Reductions for services not rendered shall be at the rate of 1/185th for each day out of pay status.

Rationale: Eliminates the 3 week pay gap.

B. Compensation Distribution.

~~1. CMSD will transition from a paper check and electronic compensation payment system to a mandatory electronic compensation payment system. During 2013-2014 school year, e~~Employees who currently receive a paper check will either transition to **receive** an electronic funds transfer (EFT), be issued a Pay Card, or a combination of both. Employees who utilized EFT may also have all or part of their pay deposited on a Pay Card, at their discretion. Once activated, all compensation for all employees will either be automatically deposited to the employee’s banking account through EFT or posted to a Pay Card, or a combination of both. ~~Until the new system is activated, checks and e~~ Check vouchers are to be mailed to the employee’s home address or made available electronically. All employees must provide Human Resources with a current home address and phone number.

Rationale: Memorializes current practice.

2. Any paid assignment performed during the regular report period will be paid within three (3) weeks of the end of the period or on the next scheduled pay run.
3. Employees who have lost their checks through any error must complete the form set forth in Appendix F so that the process of replacing the check will be accelerated.
4. When the paycheck of an employee is ~~lost, stolen,~~ **incorrect** or not received from the District, upon timely notification by the employee, a duplicate check shall be issued within one (1) working day. Any employee who has lost their pay card must notify payroll immediately. Lost Pay Cards will be replaced following the banking procedures outlined in the payroll process guide. The employee must sign a certificate of loss or non-receipt.
5. No change.
6. No change.
7. No change.

C. Payment for Differential Assignments. All persons receiving a differential for an assignment per Appendix A, other than for athletic coaching, will be paid in four (4) equal installments, on or about December 1, February 1, April 15 and June 15. Differentials for athletic coaching, except for the Athletic Director, will be paid at the conclusion of the season and/or athletic assignment. Differentials will ~~continue to be paid per the schedule in Appendix A for the 2013-2014 school year at the 2012-2013 rate. Beginning with the 2014-2015 school year,~~ differentials will be paid in accordance with the Differentiated Compensation MOU (Appendix R) as may be revised to address differential compensation aligned with the differentiated compensation system.

D. No change.

Section 6. No change.

Section 7. Pay Option.

Bargaining unit members (not on extended year contracts) shall have the option to select either a twenty (20) or twenty-six (26) biweekly pay plan. The option will be phased in, with 20% of bargaining unit members by seniority offered the option each year starting with the 2001-02 school year. **Effective with the 2018-2019 school year, there will be no 20/26 pay option and salaries will be disbursed in twenty-four (24) pays as set forth in Section 5 above.**

Section 8. Rates of Pay.

A. Daily Rate. All ~~certificated employees~~ **bargaining unit members** will receive the daily rate for regular school year/regular school hours and mandatory, District-wide professional days.

B. Pay for Voluntary Instructional Activities Outside the Regular Day. (In-Service Instructor). All certificated employees will receive a set hourly amount, set forth in Appendix A as the Instructional Rate, for instructional activities conducted outside the regular school day or year, including, but not limited to, after school/weekend proficiency activities with students, curriculum development activities, mentoring and leading of professional development activities, **except as otherwise specified in this Agreement.**

C. No change.

Section 9. Mileage.

All bargaining unit members who are required to travel on school business (excluding travel to and from home) as part of their job responsibilities will receive the Internal Revenue Service mileage rate in effect at the time of travel. Bargaining unit members who choose to accept a second District position (for example, regular class- room teachers who accept adult education positions) are not eligible for mileage when traveling from the primary position to the additional position.

Rationale: Moved from Article 29, Section 15

Section 10: Parking Expenses

The District shall provide a monthly parking pass during working months to any CTU bargaining unit member involuntarily assigned to the Lakeside Administration Building as their primary assignment. Bargaining unit members who are reassigned to the Administration Building on an emergency basis will be reimbursed for parking expenses incurred while assigned to the Administration Building if no discipline results.

Rationale: Moved from Article 29, Section 16

Section 12: Staff/Community Engagement Days

Effective July 1, 2017, there shall be two (2) voluntary flexible professional development/community engagement days for each school year for all licensed/certificated bargaining unit members including sign language/educational interpreters, except day-to-day substitutes. These staff/community engagement days shall be clearly defined and approved through the AAP process or through mutual agreement of the principal and UCC. These voluntary professional/community engagement days shall be paid at the participants' daily rate. This time can be scheduled in one hour increments, where six hours equals one full day.

Rationale: Creates 2 voluntary professional development/community engagement days for licensed/certificated bargaining unit members, including sign language interpreters.

ARTICLE 31 - NEGOTIATION, SEVERABILITY AND DURATION

Section 1. Negotiations and Duration.

A. This Agreement shall be effective from July 1, ~~2013-2016~~ through June 30, ~~2016~~ 2019.

C. Alternate Dispute Resolution. The procedure set forth in Ohio Revised Code Section 4117.14 will be followed for negotiations commencing at the end of this Agreement or for any reopener, except that the fact-finding process must be scheduled such that the fact-finders report must be submitted to the Parties no later than **thirty (30) days prior to expiration or thirty (30) days prior to the end of the traditional school year, whichever is earlier ~~the third Monday in May of the applicable year.~~ Bargaining unit members will be considered eligible to vote on the fact-finder's report provided they have: Paid their Union dues during that calendar year; and are on the CMSD payroll in the month of May of the applicable year. Nothing in this agreement shall preclude the parties from agreeing to an alternate dispute resolution procedure different from that specified above.**

Rationale: 3-year agreement

Cleveland Teachers Union Local 279

Tentative Agreement February 13, 2017 Part 2 of 2

Articles and Sections not contained in this Tentative Agreement remain unchanged. Please refer to your 2013 - 2016 Collective Bargaining Agreement for current language.

Bold denotes new language.
Strikethrough denotes removal of language.
Rationale is in italics.

APPENDIX A

TEACHER'S DIFFERENTIATED COMPENSATION SALARY SCHEDULE

Level	2015-2016	2016-2017	2017-2018	2018-2019
		2%	2.75%	2.75%
1	\$42,637	\$43,490	\$44,686	\$45,915
2	\$46,240	\$47,165	\$48,462	\$49,795
3	\$51,258	\$52,283	\$53,721	\$55,198
4	\$54,934	\$56,033	\$57,574	\$59,157
5	\$59,065	\$60,246	\$61,903	\$63,605
6	\$63,810	\$65,086	\$66,876	\$68,715
7	\$66,703	\$68,037	\$69,908	\$71,831
8	\$69,056	\$70,437	\$72,374	\$74,364
9	\$71,491	\$72,921	\$74,926	\$76,987
10	\$73,650	\$75,123	\$77,189	\$79,312
11	\$75,689	\$77,203	\$79,326	\$81,507
12	\$77,594	\$79,146	\$81,322	\$83,559
13	\$79,352	\$80,939	\$83,165	\$85,452
14	\$80,949	\$82,568	\$84,839	\$87,172
15	\$82,578	\$84,230	\$86,546	\$88,926

PER DIEM RATE FOR SUBSTITUTE TEACHERS

Inexperienced Substitute	2015-2016	2016-2017	2017-2018	2018-2019
A. Per Day	130.09	132.69	136.34	140.09
B. Per day on the 6 th day and each succeeding day in the same assignment	145.05	147.95	152.02	156.20
C. Per day on the 61 st day and each succeeding day in the same assignment	152.30	155.35	159.62	164.01

Experienced Substitutes:

Those who have had two or more years of regular teaching experience, have had 120 or more days of substitute teaching service during each of the two school years immediately prior to reappointment or appointment.

	2015-2016	2016-2017	2017-2018	2018-2019
A. Per Day	145.05	147.95	152.02	156.20
B. Per day on the 6 th day and each succeeding day in the same assignment	168.57	171.94	176.67	181.53
C. Per day on the 61 st day and each succeeding day in the same assignment	176.99	180.53	185.49	190.60

Fair Share

All substitutes must either join the CTU or pay fair share fess which are prorated annually. There is a packet of information concerning fair share fees and agency fee procedures available in both the personnel office and the CTU office. Unless you complete payroll deduction cards to become a full dues paying member, you will be added to the CTU roster as a fair share fee payer, NOT entitled to CTU voting privileges or \$1,000,000 liability insurance coverage through the American Federation of Teachers.

Senate Bill 38 – Criminal Records Check

Ohio Senate Bill 38 requires criminal records check of applicants who have applied to a school district for employment in any position as a persona responsible for the care, custody or control of a child. When an applicant is under final consideration of hire, he/she will be given information regarding the records check by the personnel office. Records checks are made through the Ohio Bureau of Criminal Identification and/or the Federal Bureau of Investigation.

MISCELLANEOUS RATES OF PAY

	2015-2016	2016-2017	2017-2018	2018-2019
1. Special Substitute				
a. Per period as assigned by Principal	24.68	25.17	25.87	26.58
b. Per day for 1/3 of an elementary or K-8 self-		56.16	57.71	59.29

contained class when a substitute teacher is requested but not available	55.06			
2. In-Service Instructor	41.16	41.98	43.14	44.32
3. In-Service Workshop and Curriculum Development	27.47	28.02	28.79	29.58
4. LD Tutors and Hourly Teachers (Primary Job)				
Step 1	29.14	29.72	30.54	31.38
Step 2	29.95	30.55	31.39	32.25
Step 3	30.78	31.40	32.26	33.15
Step 4	31.61	32.24	33.13	34.04
Step 5	32.45	33.10	34.01	34.94
Step 6	33.28	33.95	34.88	35.84
Step 7	34.10	34.78	35.74	36.72
5. Adult Education Teachers Regular Teachers (Primary Job)				
a. BA Degree	39.12	39.90	41.00	42.13
b. BA Degree + 15 Sem. Hours	41.67	42.50	43.67	44.87
c. MA Degree	44.21	45.09	46.33	47.61
d. MA Degree + 30 Sem. Hrs	47.62	48.57	49.91	51.28
6. School Camp Nurse				
Per day for five day week (8 am M to 3:30p F)	198.17	202.13	207.69	213.40
7. Homeroom Teacher for Live-in Camp (Per night)	84.22	85.90	88.27	90.69
8. Hourly rate for Teachers employed by the Board but not under a limited or continuing contract:				
a. Non-Regular Teaching Employee	28.44	29.01	29.81	30.63
b. Regular Cleveland Teaching Employee	29.14	29.72	30.54	31.38
9. Summer School – The hourly rate paid summer school teachers shall be a rate calculated by multiplying the teacher’s daily base rate by .125 or the prevailing hourly in-service workshop rate, whichever may be higher				
10. LD Tutors and Hourly Teachers (Secondary Job)				

Step 1	27.47	29.01	29.81	30.63
Step 2	28.23	29.72	30.54	31.38
Step 3	29.02	28.02	28.79	29.58
Step 4	29.80	28.79	29.59	30.40
Step 5	30.58	29.60	30.41	31.25
Step 6	31.36	30.40	31.23	32.09
Step 7	32.15	31.19	32.05	32.93
11. Adult Education Teachers Regular Teachers (Secondary Job)				
a. BA Degree	36.87	37.61	38.64	39.70
b. BA Degree + 15 Sem. Hours	39.27	40.06	41.16	42.29
c. MA Degree	41.67	42.50	43.67	44.87
d. MA Degree + 30 Sem. Hours	44.89	37.61	38.64	39.70

**SIGN LANGUAGE/EDUCATIONAL INTERPRETERS
2016-2017**

Employment	District		2015-2016	2016-2017
1-20 years	1-4 years		31,962	32,601
	5-11 years		33,044	33,705
	12-14 years		33,201	33,865
	15-16 years		33,354	34,021
	16+ years		33,509	34,179
21 years	16+ years		34,644	35,337
26 years	16+ years		35,924	36,642
31 years	16+ years		37,649	38,402
36 years	16+ years		39,548	40,339

**SIGN LANGUAGE/EDUCATIONAL INTERPRETERS
2017-2018 and 2018-2019**

Level	2017-2018	2018-2019
1	31,906	32,783
2	34,602	35,553
3	38,357	39,412
4	41,108	42,238
5	44,199	45,414
6	47,750	49,063
7	49,914	51,287
8	51,675	53,096
9	53,497	54,968
10	55,113	56,628
11	56,639	58,196
12	58,064	59,661
13	59,380	61,013
14	60,575	62,241
15	61,794	63,493

Rationale: Creates placement language for sign language interpreters and paraprofessionals transitioning to teacher positions.

**EDUCATIONAL AIDES, PARENT MENTORS, COMMUNITY AIDES/TITLE I, BUILDING ADMINISTRATOR AIDES, INSTRUCTIONAL ASSISTANTS
2016-2017 AND TRANSITION CALCULATION**

Employment	District				Transition calculation	
			2015-2016	2016-2017	2016-2017 + 2.75%	2017-2018 Level
1-4 years	1-4 years		23,002	23,462	24,107	1

		5-11 years		23,781	24,257		24,924	1
		12-14 years		23,891	24,369		25,039	2
		15-16 years		24,003	24,483		25,156	2
		16+ years		24,114	24,596		25,273	2
5-8 years		5-11 years		27,591	28,143		28,917	5
		12-14 years		27,720	28,274		29,052	5
		15-16 years		27,848	28,405		29,186	5
		16+ years		27,977	28,537		29,321	6
9-12 years		9-11 years		28,001	28,561		29,346	6
		12-14 years		28,132	28,695		29,484	6
		15-16 years		28,265	28,830		29,623	6
		16+ years		28,393	28,961		29,757	6
13-20 years		13-14 years		28,749	29,324		30,130	6
		15-16 years		28,884	29,462		30,272	6
		16+ years		29,017	29,597		30,411	7
21 years		16+ years		30,156	30,759		31,605	8
26 years		16+ years		31,497	32,127		33,010	9
31 years		16+ years		33,166	33,829		34,760	11
36 years		16+ years		35,059	35,760		36,744	12

**EDUCATIONAL AIDES, PARENT MENTORS, COMMUNITY AIDES/TITLE I, BUILDING ADMINISTRATOR AIDES, INSTRUCTIONAL ASSISTANTS
2017-2018 AND 2018-2019**

2017-2018

Level		CC 48	CC 96
1	25,000	648	1,296
2	26,072	651	1,301
3	27,144	653	1,306
4	28,216	656	1,311
5	29,288	658	1,316
6	30,360	661	1,321
7	31,432	663	1,326
8	32,504	666	1,331
9	33,576	668	1,336
10	34,648	671	1,341
11	35,720	673	1,346
12	36,792	676	1,351
13	37,864	678	1,356
14	38,936	681	1,361
15	40,008	683	1,366

2018-2019

Level		CC 48	CC 96
1	25,688	666	1,332
2	26,789	669	1,337
3	27,890	671	1,342
4	28,992	674	1,347
5	30,093	676	1,352
6	31,195	679	1,357
7	32,296	681	1,362
8	33,398	684	1,368
9	34,499	686	1,373
10	35,601	689	1,378
11	36,702	692	1,383
12	37,804	695	1,388
13	38,905	697	1,393
14	40,007	700	1,398
15	41,108	702	1,404

**COMPUTER TECHNICIANS, INSTRUCTIONAL AIDES, PCIA's, OT/PT ASSISTANTS, YRC COORDINATORS
2016-2017 AND TRANSITION CALCULATION**

Employment	District			Transition calculation	
		2015-2016	2016-2017	2016-2017 + 2.75%	2017-2018 Level
1-20 years	1-4 years	31,962	32,601	33,498	1
	5-11 years	33,044	33,705	34,632	2
	12-14 years	33,201	33,865	34,796	3

	15-16 years	33,354	34,021	34,957	3
	16+ years	33,509	34,179	35,119	3
21 years	16+ years	34,644	35,337	36,309	4
26 years	16+ years	35,924	36,642	37,650	6
31 years	16+ years	37,649	38,402	39,458	8
36 years	16+ years	39,548	40,339	41,448	12

COMPUTER TECHNICIANS, INSTRUCTIONAL AIDES, PCIAs, OT/PT ASSISTANTS, YRC COORDINATORS

2017-2018 AND 2018-2019

2017-2018		2018-2019	
Level		Level	
1	34,000	1	34,935
2	34,786	2	35,743
3	35,572	3	36,550
4	36,358	4	37,358
5	37,144	5	38,165
6	37,930	6	38,973
7	38,716	7	39,781
8	39,502	8	40,588
9	40,288	9	41,396
10	41,074	10	42,204
11	41,860	11	43,011
12	42,646	12	43,819
13	43,432	13	44,626
14	44,218	14	45,434
15	45,004	15	46,242

ATTENDANCE SPECIALIST 1s AND ATTENDANCE LIAISONS

Employment	District	2015-2016	2016-2017	2017-2018	2018-2019
1 year	1-4 years	28,221	28,785	29,577	30,390
	5-11 years	29,176	29,760	30,578	31,419
	12-14 years	29,314	29,900	30,723	31,567
	15-16 years	29,452	30,041	30,867	31,716
	16+ years	29,598	30,190	31,020	31,873
2 years	2-4 years	29,671	30,264	31,097	31,952

	5-11 years	30,676	31,290	32,150	33,034
	12-14 years	30,821	31,437	32,302	33,190
	15-16 years	30,965	31,584	32,453	33,345
	16+ years	31,107	31,729	32,602	33,498
3 years	3-4 years	30,846	31,463	32,328	33,217
	5-11 years	31,888	32,526	33,420	34,339
	12-14 years	32,040	32,681	33,580	34,503
	15-16 years	32,191	32,835	33,738	34,666
	16+ years	32,341	32,988	33,895	34,827
4 years	4 years	32,341	32,988	33,895	34,827
	5-11 years	33,435	34,104	35,042	36,005
	12-14 years	33,594	34,266	35,208	36,176
	15-16 years	33,749	34,424	35,371	36,343
	16+ years	33,906	34,584	35,535	36,512
5 years	5-11 years	34,553	35,244	36,213	37,209
	12-14 years	34,716	35,410	36,384	37,385
	15-16 years	34,875	35,573	36,551	37,556
	16+ years	35,038	35,739	36,722	37,731
6-20 years	6-11 years	36,150	36,873	37,887	38,929
	12-14 years	36,320	37,046	38,065	39,112
	15-16 years	36,489	37,219	38,242	39,294
	16+ years	36,660	37,393	38,422	39,478
21-25 years	16+ years	37,686	38,440	39,497	40,583
26-30 years	16+ years	38,997	39,777	40,871	41,995
31-35 years	16+ years	40,616	41,428	42,568	43,738
36 years	16+ years	42,547	43,398	44,591	45,818

**HOURLY RATES FOR SUBSTITUTES FOR
EDUCATIONAL AIDES, PARENT MENTORS,
COMMUNITY AIDES/TITLE I,
BUILDING ADMINISTRATOR AIDES,
INSTRUCTIONAL ASSISTANTS**

Years	2015-2016	2016-2017
1-4 years	9.53	9.72
5-8 years	11.05	11.27

**HOURLY RATES FOR SUBSTITUTES
FOR COMPUTER TECHNICIANS,
INSTRUCTIONAL AIDES, PCIA's,
OT/PT ASSISTANTS, YRC
COORDINATORS**

Years	2015-2016	2016-2017
1-20 years	13.27	13.53
21	13.70	13.97

9-12 years	11.22	11.44
13-20 years	11.47	11.70
21 years	11.89	12.13
26 years	12.46	12.71
31 years	13.09	13.35
36 years	13.84	14.12

26	14.18	14.46
31	14.85	15.15
36	15.62	15.93

Job Class **Classification**

650330 Day Care Technician

<u>Employment Year</u>	<u>District Years</u>	2015-16	2016-17	2017-18	2018-19
1	1-4 years	23508.70	23978.87	24638.29	25315.85
	4-11 years	24306.61	24792.74	25474.54	26175.09
	12-15 years	24418.96	24907.34	25592.29	26296.08
	15-16 years	24536.52	25027.25	25715.5	26422.67
	16+ years	24647.83	25140.78	25832.16	26542.54

Job Class **Classification**

650110 School Staff Aide

	2016-17	2017-18	2018-19
Minimum	25,467.57	26,167.93	26,887.55
Maximum	32,962.28	33,868.74	34,800.13

<u>Job Class</u>	<u>Classification</u>			
650355	Instructional Aide – Adult Education, Hourly			
650342	Instructional Technician – Adult Education, Hourly			
<u>Employment Year</u>	<u>District Years</u>	2015-16	2016-17	2017-18
1-17	1-17	18.86	19.23	19.76
18-20	17+	18.94	19.32	19.85
21	17+	19.50	19.89	20.44
26	17+	20.22	20.62	21.19
31	17+	21.19	21.61	22.21
36	17+	22.31	22.76	23.38

<u>Job Class</u>	<u>Classification</u>
650020	Educational Aide – Adult Education Hourly
650025	Child Care Aide
650055	Child Care Aide - Magnets

<u>Employment Year</u>	<u>2016-2017</u>	<u>2017-2018</u>	<u>2018-2019</u>	<u>2016-17</u>		<u>2017-18</u>		<u>2018-19</u>	
				College Credit *(48)	College Credits *(96)	College Credit *(48)	College Credit *(96)	College Credit *(48)	College Credit *(96)
1 – 4	13.84	14.22	14.61						
5 – 8	15.63	16.06	16.50	0.38	0.75	0.39	0.77	0.40	0.79
9 – 12	16.29	16.74	17.20	0.38	0.75	0.39	0.77	0.40	0.79
13 – 20	16.65	17.11	17.58	0.38	0.75	0.39	0.77	0.40	0.79
21	17.29	17.76	18.25	0.38	0.75	0.39	0.77	0.40	0.79
26	18.09	18.59	19.10	0.38	0.75	0.39	0.77	0.40	0.79
31	19.04	19.56	20.10	0.38	0.75	0.39	0.77	0.40	0.79
36	20.13	20.68	21.25	0.38	0.75	0.39	0.77	0.40	0.79

*College Credits differential per 48 quarter hours. Maximum of 96 quarter hours.

Social Worker/Parent Education Counselor

	1-Jul-16	1-Jul-16	1-Jul-17	1-Jul-17	1-Jul-18	1-Jul-18
Step	B.A.	M.A.	B.A.	M.A.	B.A.	M.A.
1	32,819	37,284	33,721	38,309	34,649	39,363
2	33,845	38,321	34,776	39,375	35,732	40,458
3	35,872	40,370	36,859	41,480	37,872	42,620
4	36,537	41,040	37,542	42,168	38,574	43,328

5	38,612	43,136	39,674	44,322	40,765	45,541
6	41,677	46,233	42,823	47,504	44,000	48,810
7	42,916	47,483	44,096	48,789	45,309	50,131
8	44,247	48,824	45,464	50,167	46,714	51,547
9	45,989	50,586	47,254	51,977	48,554	53,406
10	47,032	51,638	48,325	53,058	49,654	54,517
11	48,433	53,056	49,764	54,515	51,133	56,015
12	49,800	54,440	51,170	55,938	52,577	57,476
13	51,707	56,360	53,129	57,910	54,590	59,503
14	52,629	57,292	54,076	58,868	55,563	60,487
15	52,629	57,292	54,076	58,868	55,563	60,487
16	52,743	57,409	54,194	58,987	55,684	60,610
17	52,743	57,409	54,194	58,987	55,684	60,610
18	52,743	57,409	54,194	58,987	55,684	60,610
19	52,743	57,409	54,194	58,987	55,684	60,610
20	52,743	57,409	54,194	58,987	55,684	60,610
21	53,882	58,974	55,364	60,596	56,887	62,263
22	53,882	58,974	55,364	60,596	56,887	62,263
23	53,882	58,974	55,364	60,596	56,887	62,263
24	53,882	58,974	55,364	60,596	56,887	62,263
25	53,882	58,974	55,364	60,596	56,887	62,263
26	54,921	60,021	56,431	61,671	57,983	63,367
27	54,921	60,021	56,431	61,671	57,983	63,367
28	54,921	60,021	56,431	61,671	57,983	63,367
29	54,921	60,021	56,431	61,671	57,983	63,367
30	54,921	60,021	56,431	61,671	57,983	63,367
31	55,958	61,067	57,497	62,747	59,078	64,472
32	55,958	61,067	57,497	62,747	59,078	64,472
33	55,958	61,067	57,497	62,747	59,078	64,472
34	55,958	61,067	57,497	62,747	59,078	64,472
35	55,958	61,067	57,497	62,747	59,078	64,472
36	58,025.51	63,157	59,621	64,894	61,261	66,679

HEARING OFFICERS/CLASSIFIED

Step	2016-2017	2017-2018	2018-2019
1	43,472	44,668	45,896
2	44,766	45,997	47,262
3	46,152	47,421	48,725
4	47,970	49,289	50,644

5	49,056	50,405	51,791
6	50,519	51,908	53,335
7	51,914	53,342	54,808
8	53,936	55,419	56,943
9	54,897	56,407	57,958
10	54,897	56,407	57,958
11	55,015	56,528	58,082
12	55,015	56,528	58,082
13	55,015	56,528	58,082
14	55,015	56,528	58,082
15	55,015	56,528	58,082
16	56,205	57,751	59,339
17	56,205	57,751	59,339
18	56,205	57,751	59,339
19	56,205	57,751	59,339
20	56,205	57,751	59,339
21	57,287	58,863	60,481
22	57,287	58,863	60,481
23	57,287	58,863	60,481
24	57,287	58,863	60,481
25	57,287	58,863	60,481
26	58,368	59,974	61,623
27	58,368	59,974	61,623
28	58,368	59,974	61,623
29	58,368	59,974	61,623
30	58,368	59,974	61,623
31	60,527	62,191	63,902

HOURLY RATE FOR ALL SUBSTITUTE PARAPROFESSIONALS

Inexperienced Substitute	2017-2018	2018-2019
A. Per hour – Day-to-Day	15.00	15.41
B. Per hour on the 6 th day and each succeeding day in the same assignment	15.75	16.18
Experienced Substitute		
A. Per hour – Day-to-Day	16.00	16.44
B. Per hour on the 6 th day and each succeeding day in the same assignment	16.75	17.21

Experienced Substitutes are those who have had two or more years of regular substitute experience, have had 120 or more days of substitute service during each of the two school years immediately prior to reappointment or appointment.

Rationale: Increases the para sub rate and creates an experienced para sub rate.

SUPPLEMENTAL DIFFERENTIATED STIPENDS LISTINGS

All Bargaining Unit Members where noted by “*”; otherwise the Supplemental Differentiated Stipends apply only to Certificated/Licensed Bargaining Unit Members.

Stipend	Description	Annual Stipend	Payment Date
Meeting AAP Goals*	Academic Achievement Plan goals CMSD will meet with CTU to share the targets and data source by October 1 st or the first workday thereafter. The CTU will provide input and feedback within 5 working days. If no goals are set by October 15 th , default to previous school year’s goals.	1,250	30 working days after data is received and validated by the District

Meeting CFL Goals*	Conditions for Learning goals CMSD will meet with CTU to share the targets and data source by October 1 st or the first workday thereafter. The CTU will provide input and feedback within 5 working days. If no goals are set by October 15 th , default to previous school year's goals.	900	30 working days after data is received and validated by the District
Hard to Staff Schools*	Designated by Board of Education as Hard to Staff	1,000	1,2,3,4
Hard to Staff Subjects/Grade Levels	Designated by Board of Education as Hard to Staff	1,000	1,2,3,4
Lead Professional Educator License	Attainment or first renewal, if not previously compensated	1,000	30 working days after license is submitted to District
Senior Professional Educator License	Attainment or first renewal, if not previously compensated	800	30 working days after license is submitted to District
Master Teacher Status	Attainment or first renewal, if not previously compensated	250	30 working days after status is awarded by District
Step Up to Quality*	\$100 per star earned for 4 or 5 star sites	400 - 500	30 working days after SUTQ rating is received by District
National Board Certified	Attainment or first renewal, if not previously compensated	250	30 working days after certification is submitted to District

Rationale: Memorializes list of supplemental differentiated stipends and includes sign language interpreters.

Creates stipend for Step Up to Quality.

Includes paraprofessionals on meeting AAP and CFL goals, hard-to-staff schools and Step Up to Quality stipends.

CDCS New Hire Salary Placement Criteria for Certificated/Licensed Members

1. For every three years of experience in another district/school, the member will be given one (1) level of credit on the CDCS Schedule.
2. For every three years of relevant and/or specialized experience identified for a specific teaching position, the member will be given one (1) level of credit on the CDCS Schedule.

3. For CMSD Sign Language/Educational Interpreters who transition, or have transitioned since July 1, 2013, to a teacher position, the member will be placed at the corresponding level on the Teacher Salary Schedule.
 4. For members who completed the Teacher Track V or VI on the Paraprofessional Career Ladder, the member will be given credit for half of their years of service as a paraprofessional and then given one (1) level of credit on the CDCS Schedule for every three (3) years of service.
 5. For members with an “Accomplished” OTES rating (or the equivalent from another Danielson-anchored evaluation system) from the previous school year, the member will be given one (1) level of credit on the CDCS Schedule.
 6. For members who have retired from any school district, the member will be placed at Level One on the CDCS Schedule.
 7. Any other mutually agreed upon criteria per Article 30, Section 2(C).
- Rationale: Memorializes placement criteria for new hires.*

DIFFERENTIAL LISTINGS

ALL EXTRACURRICULAR ACTIVITIES ARE CONTINGENT UPON AVAILABLE FUNDS

Senior High	Position Title	Annual Differential 2016-17	Annual Differential 2017-18	Annual Differential 2018-19	Payment Quarter
840110	Athletic Director, Sr.	5,445	5,595	5,749	1, 2, 4
840140	Coach, Baseball, Sr.	3,627	3,727	3,829	4
840150	Coach, Basketball, Boys, Sr.	3,627	3,727	3,829	2
840490	Coach, Basketball, Girls, Sr.	3,627	3,727	3,829	2
840280	Coach, Bowling, Sr.	1,542	1,584	1,628	1
840160	Coach, Cross Country, Boys, Sr.	1,542	1,584	1,628	1
840500	Coach, Cross Country, Girls, Sr.	1,542	1,584	1,628	1
840540	Coach, Fencing, Sr.	1,542	1,584	1,628	3
840170	Coach, Football, Sr.	3,627	3,727	3,829	1
840180	Coach, Golf, Sr.	1,542	1,584	1,628	1
840530	Coach, Gymnastics, Sr.	1,542	1,584	1,628	*
840720	Coach, Soccer, Sr.	1,542	1,584	1,628	1
840480	Coach, Softball, Girls, Sr.	3,627	3,727	3,829	4
840800	Coach, Swimming	1,542	1,584	1,628	2

840190	Coach, Tennis, Boys, Sr.	1,542	1,584	1,628	4
840200	Coach, Tennis, Girls, Sr.	1,542	1,584	1,628	1
840210	Coach, Track, Boys, Sr.	3,627	3,727	3,829	4
840510	Coach, Track, Girls, Sr.	3,627	3,727	3,829	4
840460	Coach, Track, Outdoor Only, Boys, Sr.	1,814	1,864	1,915	4
840740	Coach, Track, Outdoor Only, Girls, Sr.	1,814	1,864	1,915	4
840520	Coach, Volleyball, Girls, Sr.	3,627	3,727	3,829	1
840220	Coach, Wrestling, Sr.	3,627	3,727	3,829	2
840230	Asst. Coach, Baseball, Sr.	2,070	2,127	2,185	4
840240	Asst. Coach, Basketball, Boys, Sr.	2,070	2,127	2,185	2
840750	Asst. Coach, Basketball, Girls, Sr.	2,070	2,127	2,185	2
840560	Asst. Coach Cross Country, Boys, Sr.	1,285	1,320	1,357	1
840820	Asst. Coach, Cross Country, Girls, Sr.	1,285	1,320	1,357	1
840250	Asst. Coach, Football, Sr.	2,070	2,127	2,185	1
840580	Asst. Coach, Gymnastics, Sr.	1,285	1,320	1,357	*
840810	Asst. Coach, Soccer, Sr.	1,285	1,320	1,357	1
840550	Asst. Coach, Softball, Girls, Sr.	2,070	2,127	2,185	4
840470	Asst. Coach, Swimming	1,285	1,320	1,357	2
840260	Asst. Coach, Track, Boys, Sr.	2,070	2,127	2,185	4
840760	Asst. Coach, Track, girls, Sr.	2,070	2,127	2,185	4
840570	Asst. Coach, Track Outdoor, Boys	1,285	1,320	1,357	4

840790	Asst Coach, Track, Outdoor, Girls	1,285	1,320	1,357	4
840100	Ass. Coach, Volleyball	2,070	2,127	2,185	1
840270	Asst. Coach, Wrestling, Sr.	2,070	2,127	2,185	2
840120	Intramural Director, Boys, Sr.	1,453	1,493	1,534	1, 2, 3, 4
840130	Intramural Director, Girls, Sr.	1,453	1,493	1,534	1, 2, 3, 4
840290	Band Director, Sr.	2,178	2,238	2,299	1, 2, 3, 4
840700	Orchestra, Director, Sr.	1,088	1,118	1,149	1, 2, 3, 4
840350	Vocal Music Director, Sr.	1,632	1,677	1,723	1, 2, 3, 4
840300	Drill Team Sr. (min 12 students)	1,584	1,628	1,672	1, 2, 3, 4
840780	Highstepper, Sr. (Min 12 students)	1,584	1,628	1,672	1, 2, 3, 4
840310	Cheerleader Sponsor, Sr.	1,584	1,628	1,672	1, 2, 3, 4
840320	Dramatics, Director, Sr.	2,178	2,238	2,299	1, 2, 3, 4
840330	Newspaper Advisor	2,543	2,613	2,685	1, 2, 3, 4
840340	Yearbook Advisor, Sr.	2,395	2,461	2,529	1, 2, 3, 4
840960	Majorettes (min. 7 students)	791	813	835	1, 2, 3, 4
840970	Flag Squad (min. 7 students)	791	813	835	1, 2, 3, 4
840900	Testing Coordinator	3,500	3,500	3,500	1, 2, 3, 4

Rationale: Renames the Proficiency Test Consulting Teacher to Testing Coordinator and increases the stipend.

Student Council Advisor

One (1) unassigned period, per day, to work with Student Council

Senior Class Advisor

One (1) unassigned period, per day, to work with Senior Class

*Not currently being offered

The Senior High athletic director, head football coach, and four (4) assistant coaches will receive two – nineteenth (2/19) of the ensuing year’s salary for pre-season football practice.

The head volleyball coach, head cross – country coach, head girls tennis coach, head soccer coach, head golf coach, assistant volleyball coach, assistant cross country coach, assistant girls tennis coach, and assistant soccer coach will receive one – nineteenth (1/19) of the ensuing year’s salary for pre-season practice.

Rationale: Memorializes all coaching positions that receive a preseason differential.

MIDDLE/K-8 SCHOOLS

Middle School	Position Title	Annual Differential 2016-17	Annual Differential 2017-18	Annual Differential 2018-19	Payment Quarter
840620	Athletic Director (Must have responsibilities for 5+ sports)	1,814	1,864	1,915	1, 2, 4
840370	Coach, Basketball, Boys, Inter.	1,542	1,584	1,628	3
840590	Coach, Basketball, Girls, Inter.	1,542	1,584	1,628	1
840545	Coach, Fencing, Middle	1,542	1,584	1,628	3
840185	Coach, Golf, Middle	1,542	1,584	1,628	4
840380	Coach, Soccer, Inter.	1,542	1,584	1,628	1
840390	Coach, Track, Boys, Inter.	1,542	1,584	1,628	4
840600	Coach, Track, Girls, Inter.	1,542	1,584	1,628	4
840610	Coach, Volleyball, Girls, Inter.	1,542	1,584	1,628	1
840730	Coach, Wrestling, Inter.	1,542	1,584	1,628	1
840640	Ass. Coach, Track, Boys, Inter.	780	801	823	4
840770	Asst. Coach, Track, Girls, Inter.	780	801	823	4
840630	Asst. Coach, Soccer, Inter	780	801	823	1
840400	Intramural Director, Boys, Inter.	1,453	1,493	1,534	1, 2, 3, 4
840410	Intramural Director, Girls, Inter.	1,453	1,493	1,534	1, 2, 3, 4
840830	Intramural Director, Girls, Inter	1,453	1,493	1,534	1, 2, 3, 4
840710	Dramatics, Director, Inter.	1,088	1,118	1,149	1, 2, 3, 4

840430	Newspaper Advisor, Inter.	1,088	1,118	1,149	1, 2, 3, 4
840440	Vocal Music Director, Inter.	1,088	1,118	1,149	1, 2, 3, 4
840420	Intramural Music Director, Inter.	1,088	1,118	1,149	1, 2, 3, 4
840965	Majorettes (min. 7 students)	791	813	835	1, 2, 3, 4
840975	Flag Squad (min. 7 students)	791	813	835	1, 2, 3, 4
840305	Military Drill team (min. 7 students)	791	813	835	1, 2, 3, 4
840785	High Stepper (min 7 students)	791	813	835	1, 2, 3, 4
840375	Cheerleader Advisor	791	813	835	1, 2, 3, 4
840900	Testing Coordinator	3,500	3,500	3,500	1, 2, 3, 4

Rationale: Renames the Proficiency Test Consulting Teacher to Testing Coordinator and increases the stipend.

Student Council Advisor: One (1) unassigned period, per day, to work with Student Council.

(In all Senior High and in other schools with an enrollment of 1,501 or more)

SENIOR HIGH AND MIDDLE SCHOOL POSITIONS

Senior High & Middle School Positions	Position Title	Annual Differential 2016-17	Annual Differential 2017-18	Annual Differential 2018-19	Payment Quarter
840031	Dept. Chair, Guidance	2,996	3,078	3,163	1, 2, 3, 4
840030	Guidance Counselor	2,543	2,613	2,685	1, 2, 3, 4
84035	Guidance Counselor, ½ time	1,453	1,493	1,534	1, 2, 3, 4
840080	Dept. Chair, Educational Media In all Senior High and in other schools with an enrollment of 1,501 or more	1,056	1,085	1,115	1, 2, 3, 4

DEPARTMENT HEAD, CORE TEAM LEADER**SUBJECT AREA SPECIALIST, SPECIAL EDUCATION LIAISON**

Middle School/ Middle Grades Subject Area Specialist receive an annual differential plus a minimum of five (5) additional release periods per week. The annual differential for Department Heads, Core Team Leaders, Subject Area Specialists, and Special Education Liaisons is determined by the number of periods within the department per week including the department chairs/core team leader periods assigned to department duties. A minimum of 50 periods per week is needed to qualify for an annual differential. The following is a list of required periods and periods per week is needed to qualify for an annual differential. The following is a list of required periods and compensation as of July 1, 2013.

	Position Title	Annual Differential 2016-17	Annual Differential 2017-18	Annual Differential 2018-19	Payment Quarter
50 – 119	Periods per week	1,124	1,155	1,187	1, 2, 3, 4
120-214	Periods per week	2,181	2,241	2,303	1, 2, 3, 4
215-249	Periods per week	3,265	3,355	3,447	1, 2, 3, 4
250-419	Periods per week	3,528	3,625	3,725	1, 2, 3, 4
420-up	Periods per week	4,352	4,472	4,595	1, 2, 3, 4

ELEMENTARY SCHOOLS

	Position Title	Annual Differential 2016-17	Annual Differential 2017-18	Annual Differential 2018-19	Payment Quarter
	Grade level Chairperson (Art 23, Sec 19(B)22)	194	199	205	
840695	Elementary Consultant	1,177	1,209	1,243	1, 2, 3, 4
840450	Elementary Safety Council	1,270	1,305	1,341	1, 2, 3, 4
840690	Elementary Guidance Liaison	1,177	1,209	1,243	1, 2, 3, 4

MISCELLANEOUS

	Position Title	Annual Differential 2016-17	Annual Differential 2017-18	Annual Differential 2018-19	Payment Quarter
840016	Attendance Worker	600	617	633	1, 2, 3, 4
840017	Attendance Worker, Head	2,902	2,982	3,064	1, 2, 3, 4

840040	Audiologist	2,543	2,613	2,685	1, 2, 3, 4
840060	Court Representative (juvenile)	1,170	1,202	1,235	1, 2, 3, 4
840660	Court Liaison (school)	1,270	1,305	1,341	1, 2, 3, 4
840085	Cluster/Inst. Res. Guidance	2,543	2,613	2,685	1, 2, 3, 4
840090	Cluster/Inst. Res. Reading	1,177	1,209	1,243	1, 2, 3, 4
840850	Mediation Coordinator	1,249	1,283	1,319	1, 2, 3, 4
840900	Testing Coordinator	3,500	3,500	3,500	1, 2, 3, 4
840051	Psychologist, Ph.D	3,627	3,727	3,829	1, 2, 3, 4
840050	Psychologist	2,543	2,613	2,685	1, 2, 3, 4
840860	Schoolnet Liaison-Elem.	1,270	1,305	1,341	1, 2, 3, 4
840019	Secondary Consultant	1,177	1,209	1,243	1, 2, 3, 4
840018	Special Education Consultant	1,177	1,209	1,243	1, 2, 3, 4
840670	Split Kindergarten	634	651	669	1, 2, 3, 4
840075	Head Teacher/Special Education	634	651	669	
840070	Head Teacher/Residential				
	4-9 teachers	1,814	1,864	1,915	1, 2, 3, 4
	10 or more teachers	2,902	2,982	3,064	1, 2, 3, 4
	Anti-Bullying Coordinator	1,249	1,283	1,319	1, 2, 3, 4

Rationale: Renames the Proficiency Test Consulting Teacher to Testing Coordinator and increases the stipend.

Team Leaders in PK/K – 8 Buildings

K-8 School	Team Leader 2016-17	Team Leader 2017-18	Team Leader 2018-19
*Min. 3 Teachers	750	771	792
Additional Teacher	250	257	264

*A Team Leader will be responsible for a minimum of three grade level Team homeroom teachers including himself or herself. (\$750=3X \$250). Each additional teacher will add \$250 to the Team Leader's compensation for the year.

Special Education Liaison, ESP Liaison, Subject Area Specialist, in PK/K – 8 Schools.

SAS			
Enrollment	2016-2017	2017-2018	2018-2019
0-300	1,090	1,120	1,151
301-600	2,117	2,175	2,235
601-900	3,170	3,257	3,347
900+	4,223	4,339	4,458

****Regular Enrollment**

SEL			
**Enrollment	2016-2017	2017-2018	2018-2019
0-50	1090	1,120	1,151
51-100	2117	2,175	2,235
101-200	3170	3,257	3,347
201+	4223	4,339	4,458

****Special Education Enrollment**

K – 8 School	ESPL		
	2016-2017	2017-2018	2018-2019
Number of ESP Teacher***	250	257	264
***To be paid at the ESP Teacher allocation for that school (e.g. if a building has an allocation of 3.2 ESP teachers, the ESP liaison will be compensated 3.2 X \$250).			

Senior High School

Extracurricular and Arts Education

Stipend Positions

Position must be submitted on Student Activities Payroll Roster

(Stipend positions are limited to CMSD Board employees only)

	2016-2017	2016-2017	2016-2017	2017-2018	2017-2018	2017-2018	2018-2019	2018-2019	2018-2019
Position	1 st Sem.	2 nd Sem.	Yearly Rate	1 st Sem.	2 nd Sem.	Yearly Rate	1 st Sem.	2 nd Sem.	Yearly Rate
Chess Sponsor	182	182	364	187	187	374	192	192	384
Coed Weightlifting	154.5	154.5	309	158.50	158.50	317	163	163	326
Pay Dates: February, June									

K – 8 Schools

(Grades 6 – 8)

Stipend Positions

Extracurricular and Arts Education

Position must be submitted on Student Activities Payroll Roster

(Stipend positions are limited to CMSD Board employees only)

	2016-2017	2016-2017	2016-2017	2017-2018	2017-2018	2017-2018	2018-2019	2018-2019	2018-2019
Position	<u>1st Sem.</u>	<u>2nd Sem.</u>	<u>Yearly Rate</u>	<u>1st Sem.</u>	<u>2nd Sem.</u>	<u>Yearly Rate</u>	<u>1st Sem.</u>	<u>2nd Sem.</u>	<u>Yearly Rate</u>
Chess Sponsor	182	182	364	187	187	374	192	192	384
Pay Dates: February, June									

Extramural Schools Program

Stipend Positions

Position must be submitted on Student Activities Payroll Roster

(Stipend positions are limited to CMSD Board employees only)

	2016-2017			2017-2018			2018-2019		
Position	<u>1st Sem.</u>	<u>2nd Sem.</u>	<u>Yearly Rate</u>	<u>1st Sem.</u>	<u>2nd Sem.</u>	<u>Yearly Rate</u>	<u>1st Sem.</u>	<u>2nd Sem.</u>	<u>Yearly Rate</u>
Extramural Director	733		1466						
Boys' Basketball		733		753	753	1,506	774	774	1506
Boys' Basketball Sponsor	1150		1150	1182	0	1,182	1214	0	1214
Girls' Basketball Sponsor	0	1,150	1150	0	1182	1,182	0	1214	1214
Coed Bowling Sponsor	818		818	840	0	840	864	0	864
Pay Dates: February, June									

APPENDIX C Teacher Track VI

Beginning with one (1) pilot cohort starting in the 2017-18 school year the district will implement Teacher Track VI of the Career Development Program Path for Paraprofessionals which provides eligible paraprofessionals with the opportunity to earn a Bachelor's degree and attain teacher certification in areas of high need. Based on the needs and resources of CMSD, the program pays tuition for- 6 credits per semester for undergraduate study at participating colleges/universities. Candidates in the program will have two and a half hours per week of release time to be mutually agreed upon with the principal. In addition, the Program will pay the initial college admission/application fee for paraprofessionals participating in the program. This release time cannot be used to attend classes during the scheduled work day unless agreed upon by the school principal or the principal's designee. However, we do encourage paraprofessionals to take courses during the late afternoon, evenings and/or weekends to avoid conflict with their work schedules. During the period of student teaching, participants approved to be in the program will be required to apply for a paid Leave of Absence.

Paraprofessionals attending and completing six (6) credits/semester hours of study during the summer semester may be eligible to receive a summer stipend. Any paraprofessional currently on Teacher Track V may either complete Teacher Track V or may apply to Teacher Track VI during the application period for the initial pilot cohort. If the paraprofessional plans to stay in Track V, they will be responsible for confirming their participation, providing documentation of current progress towards completion and projected completion date to the Talent Office. If accepted into Teacher Track VI, the paraprofessional would fall under the guidelines of Track VI. Any paraprofessional who begins the Teacher Track VI pilot will have the opportunity to complete the program provided that he/she meets the requirements. Should a new cohort for Teacher Track VI not be offered, then Teacher Track V will be reopened for new participants.

Financial Aid

In order to participate, applicants must apply for financial assistance. For paraprofessionals who benefit from Federal Pell Grant or State level tuition assistance, financial aid will be used to cover any tuition related expenses. Additional tuition and required post-admission fees will be billed to CMSD. The paraprofessional will be responsible for any other out-of-pocket costs such as books, parking, supplies, etc.

Approved Colleges and Programs

The District, with input from the CTU, intends to identify the program(s) by the fall for a 2nd semester start date.

Application Requirements

1. Complete an application process for the Paraprofessional Ladder to be mutually developed by the District and the CTU.

2. Recommendation from current principal with agreement to allow for the release time.
3. Hold an associate's degree, or equivalent credit hours, in any area of study from an accredited college/university and a minimum 2.5 cumulative GPA.
4. Have at least 2 years of experience with the attainment of a skilled or accomplished rating.
5. Paraprofessionals, who are on an approved leave of absence, resign or are terminated prior to their first day of college classes are not eligible to participate in the program.
6. Complete an evaluation request application developed by the district.
7. Will sign a letter of commitment to stay in the district as a teacher for 5 years, if hired as a teacher within one year of the date of license issuance, or will be responsible to pay back tuition costs. It is expected that participants will apply for positions through the open position within one year from the date the license is issued.

The District shall select participants in Teacher Track VI with input from the CTU.
During the program

Requirements

- Must take a minimum of 6 credits per semester
- Must maintain As or Bs in courses completed
- Up to 2 ½ hours a week of field experience that can be done within the participants currently assigned building.

Verification of Enrollment

- At the beginning of each semester, any paraprofessional requesting release time must present a copy of the college bursar's receipt or other documentation of actual enrollment to the school principal or designee.

Verification of Course Completion

- Within one month following completion of the semester, it is the responsibility of each participating paraprofessional to submit to the principal or designee a copy of the transcript, grade report, or other substantiating documentation indicating completion of the course(s) for which release time was granted.

Failing Grade-Withdrawal/Incomplete

- A paraprofessional whose transcript indicates a failing grade or withdrawal/incomplete during the semester for which release time was granted must submit to the principal written verification from the professor of actual attendance for the failed course. If this written verification is not submitted, release time must be terminated due to non-compliance or failure to meet requirements. A payroll deduction will be held for any release time or pay that the paraprofessional received without appropriate documentation.

Upon completion

Paraprofessionals who receive a teacher certification and are hired as a teacher in the District commit to teaching in the District for five years. If the paraprofessional applied for an open position within one year of the date the license is issued and is not interviewed and hired as a teacher then this requirement shall not apply.

Rationale: Provides additional opportunity and financial incentive for paraprofessionals to become teachers.

APPENDIX G - ~~Investment~~ Corrective Action Schools
(Per Ohio Revised Code 3311.74)

The CEO shall identify which schools are in need of corrective action (~~“Investment Schools”~~). The CEO will also identify what corrective action is warranted at each school and when the corrective actions should be implemented (the “Corrective Plan”).

The Corrective Plan will first be shared with the District level Corrective Action Team (“CAT”) comprised of four representatives selected by the CEO and four representatives selected by the CTU President. Soon thereafter, the Corrective Plan will be announced to the staff at the ~~Investment~~ **Corrective Action** School(s).

Where appropriate the CAT will seek input from the Academic Progress Team (“APT”) (see Appendix Q) for recommendations on implementation of the Corrective Plan. The CAT, within the timelines set by the CEO, shall collaborate with CATs from other unions where there are overlapping or mutual concerns, prior to making their recommendations to the CEO.

If the CEO disagrees with all or part of the recommendations of a CAT, or if a CAT fails to make timely recommendations on the implementation of all or part of the Corrective Plan, the CEO may implement the Corrective Plan in the manner in which the CEO determines to be in the best interest of the students, consistent with the timelines originally established.

The implementation of the Corrective Plan will be the responsibility of the APT at the ~~Investment~~ **Corrective Action** School. The CAT will be responsible for regularly monitoring the progress of the Corrective Plan at the ~~Investment~~ **Corrective Action** School(s) and will make recommendations to the CEO regarding “exit” strategies when the ~~Investment~~ **Corrective Action** School(s) has accomplished the goals addressed in the Corrective Plan.

The CEO and any CAT are not bound by the applicable provision of this Agreement in developing recommendations for and implementation of the Corrective Plan.

The Corrective Plan is not intended to be used as a cost savings measure; rather, it is intended to improve student performance at the ~~Investment~~ **Corrective Action** Schools. **Therefore, bargaining unit members required to complete additional activities or events beyond the school’s established work day that are not otherwise bargained and/or compensated for in this Agreement (e.g. parent nights, home visits) shall be compensated at their prorated daily rate.**

Rationale: Reflects current practice

APPENDIX L
Peer Assistance and Review (PAR)

In order to improve teacher effectiveness and academic achievement in the Cleveland Metropolitan School District, the CTU and CMSD agree to implement ~~beginning in the 2007/08 school year~~ the Peer Assistance and Review Program (PAR). The goals of this program are:

To provide the support to help teachers develop as career educators.

Two components of the PAR Program:

1. Intervention:

- a. After **receiving a Composite observation rating of “Ineffective”** ~~two unsatisfactory individual visit evaluations~~ the principal may recommend a teacher be placed in the PAR Program at the Composite Evaluation conference for the upcoming school year. ~~(Unsatisfactory evaluation is defined as having three or more unsatisfactory marks in evaluation areas dealing with instruction and classroom management, delineating a pattern of unsatisfactory performance in these areas.)~~
2. Volunteer:
 - a. A teacher experiencing difficulties and recognizing that he/she needs assistance in classroom teaching strategies may volunteer to participate in the PAR Program. The volunteer teacher may **electronically contact the PAR Liaison to request voluntary** ~~write a letter to the Principal and the CTU Chapter Chairperson requesting participation~~ in PAR. The ~~building principal/administrator and CTU Representative~~ **PAR Liaison** will forward the teacher’s request to the PAR Governing Board.

Rationale: Updates criteria for PAR

Appendix P			
Benefits	KAISER HMO HealthSpan UHChoice Network Only (No coverage if outside UHChoice Kaiser network, except in emergency)	AETNA http://www.aetna.com Network /Non-Network	MMO-SUPERMED PLUS POO https://member.medmutual.com Network /Non-Network
Major Medical			
Single (deductible)	\$0	\$0 /\$250	\$0 /\$250
Family (deductible)	\$0	\$0 /\$500	\$0 /\$500
Co-insurance	100%	100% /70%	100% /80%
Single (Max Out-of-pocket for Co-Insurance)	\$0 (excludes payroll contributions)	\$0/\$2,250 (excludes deductible and payroll contributions)	\$0 /\$2,000 (excludes deductible and payroll contributions)
Family (Max Out-of-pocket for Co-Insurance)	\$0 (excludes payroll contributions)	\$0 /\$4,500 (excludes deductible and payroll contributions)	\$0/\$4,000 (excludes deductible and payroll contributions)
Lifetime Maximum	Unlimited	Unlimited- \$2,500,000	\$2,500,000 Unlimited
Hospital Services (Emergency Co-pay (ER), Urgent Care Co-pay (UC))	\$50 Co-pay (ER) \$25 Co-pay (UC)	\$75 Co-pay \$35 Co-pay (UC) /70%	\$75 Co-pay \$35 Co-pay (UC) /80%
Physician Services (Office Visit or Telemed) Specialist	\$10 Co-pay \$25 Co-pay	\$15 20 Co-pay /70% \$25 30 Co-pay /70%	\$15 20 Co-pay /80% \$25 30 Co-pay /80%
Physician Services (Surgery, 2 nd Surgery Opinion)	100%	100%/70%	100%/80%
Physician Services (X-Ray & Lab)	100%	100%/70%	100%/80%

Prescription Drug			
– Generic	\$5 Co-pay	\$5 Co-pay	\$5 Co-pay
– Formulary	\$10 Co-pay	\$10 \$15 Co-pay	\$10 \$15 Co-pay
– Non-Formulary	\$10 Co-pay	\$15 \$20 Co-pay	\$15 \$20 Co-pay
Contraceptives	Covered/ \$5 Co-pay	Covered	Covered
Mail Order/Days Supply per prescription	90 Days	90 Days	90 Days
Generic	\$5 Co-pay	\$10 Co-pay	\$10 Co-pay
Formulary	\$10 Co-pay	\$20 \$30 Co-pay	\$20 \$30 Co-pay
Non-Formulary	\$10 Co-pay	\$30 \$40 Co-pay	\$30 \$40 Co-pay
Physical/Occupational Therapy	\$10 Co-pay	\$15 Co-pay /70%	\$15 Co-pay /80%
Annual Maximum	Up to 2 months or 30 visits per therapy, whichever is greater	60 visits	60 visits
Speech Therapy	\$10 Co-pay Up to 2 months or 30 visits, whichever is greater	\$15 Co-pay /70% 20 visits per benefit period	\$15 Co-pay /80% 20 visits per benefit period
Mental Health – In Patient	100%	100% /70%	100% / 50% 80%
Substance Abuse – In Patient	100% One (1) admissions per year	100% /70%	100% / 50% 80% Three (3) admissions per year
MH & SA – In Patient (Combined)	45 day per calendar year Unlimited	30 day per calendar year Unlimited	30 days per benefit period Unlimited
Mental Health – Outpatient	20 visits per year at \$10 Co-pay	\$15 Co-pay /70% after deductible	\$15 Co-pay /80% after deductible
Substance Abuse – Outpatient	100%	\$15 Co-pay /70%-after deductible	\$15 Co-pay / 50% 80% after deductible
Dependent Age Limit	To Age 23 26 (if allowed as a federal tax exemption)	To Age 23 26 (if allowed as a federal tax exemption)	To Age 23 26 (if allowed as a federal tax exemption)
Special Feature – Durable Meds. Equip.	100%	100%/70%	100%/80%

Medical forms will be submitted for printing.

Medical Summary

Special Feature – Hospice	100%	100%	100%
Special Feature – Skilled Nursing	100%	100%/70%	100%/80%
Special Feature – Organ Transplant	100%	100% /70%, (if pre-authorized)	100% /50% Separate 1 Million Lifetime
Infertility Services	70% - See Certificate for exclusions	Not Covered	Not Covered

benefit be separately

Benefit

The above chart is a broad summary of the medical, dental, life and vision insurance provisions. Other plan provisions and limitations may apply. If there is a discrepancy between the plan document and this bulletin, the plan document will prevail. *See Certificate of Coverage for details.

**CLEVELAND METROPOLITAN SCHOOL DISTRICT
Vision Insurance Benefits Summary**

Spectera (United HealthCareVision Plan) (Local 279)	
Description	Employee Benefit/Co-pay
<p>Examination One exam every 24 months for employees and dependents 19 years of age or older, and once every 12 months for employees and dependents under age 19.</p>	Exam \$0 Co-pay
<p>Lenses / Frames One pair every 24 months for employees and dependents 19 years of age or older, and once every 12 months for employees and dependents under age 19. Covered in full, including lens options such as tinted lenses and scratch-resistant coatings.</p>	Single Vision \$45.00 Co-pay Standard Bifocals Standard Trifocals Lenticular or Aphakic Lens Frames on display
<p>Contact Lenses One pair every 24 months for employees and dependents 19 years of age or older, and once every 12 months for employees and dependents under age 19. In lieu of spectacle lenses and a frame, employees and dependents may choose contact lenses. Cosmetic and Medically Necessary contact lenses are covered in full (up to 4 boxes of disposable lenses.)</p>	Contact lenses \$45.00 Co-pay

When you are ready to use your benefit, simply call the Spectera/United Optical facility most convenient to you and make an appointment. Spectera/United Optical will request the employee's social security number and patient's date of birth to verify eligibility.

Dependent child coverage is provided to eligible children until age 26

This chart is a broad summary of the medical, dental, life and vision insurance provisions.
Other plan provisions and limitations may apply.

If there is a discrepancy between the plan document and this bulletin, the plan document will prevail.

CLEVELAND METROPOLITAN SCHOOL DISTRICT
Dental Benefit Summary
MetLife Insurance
Effective 1/1/18

Description	Basic		Enhanced	
	In-Network	Out-of-Network	In-Network	Out-of-Network
Deductible	\$ 25 Individual / \$ 50 Family		\$ 25 Individual / \$ 50 Family	
Calendar Year Maximum	\$1,500 per person		\$ 2,000 \$2,500 per person	
	In-Network	Out-of-Network	In-Network	Out-of-Network
Preventative				
Oral Examinations – 2 per year				
Prophylaxis (cleanings) – 2 per year				
Topical Fluoride Applications – to age 14 annually	100% of PDP Fee*	100% of R&C Fee**	100% of PDP Fee*	100% of R&C Fee**
Bitewing X-rays– 1 per year				
Full Mouth X-rays–once every 60 months				
Space Maintainers for children under 14				

Basic Fillings, Simple Extractions, Endodontics, Oral Surgery, Periodontics, General Anesthesia, Consultations	80% of PDP Fee*	80% of R&C Fee**	80% of PDP Fee*	80% of R&C Fee**
Major Bridges and Dentures – once every 5 years Inlays, Onlays & Crowns – once every 5 years Prosthetics (Fixed) – once every 5 years Crown Build-ups Veneers, Harmful Habit Appliance, Crown, Denture & Bridge Repair Implants (Covered under the Enhanced Plan Only) – Installation once per 60 months; maintenance once per 12 months	20% of PDP Fee*	20% of R&C Fee**	80% of PDP Fee*	80% of R&C Fee**
Orthodontics – Child Only Dependents covered until age 19	20 % of PDP Fee*	20% of R&C Fee**	80% of PDP Fee*	80% of R&C Fee**
Orthodontia Lifetime Maximum	\$1,500 per person	\$ 1,500 per person	\$2,000 2,500 per person	\$2,000 2,500 per person
<p>* PDP Fee refers to the negotiated fees that participating PDP dentists have agreed to accept as payment in full. ** Reasonable and Customary charge is based on the lesser: (1) the dentist’s actual charge (2) the dentist’s actual charge for the same or similar services or (3) the usual charge of most dentists in the same geographical area for the same or similar service as determined by MetLife.</p> <p>This chart is a broad summary of the dental benefits provisions. Other plan provisions and limitations may apply. If there is a discrepancy between the plan document and this bulletin, the plan document will prevail.</p>				

Dental Coverage is extended to eligible dependents until age 19 or 23 if a full-time student.

~~YOU DO NOT NEED TO PRESENT AN ID CARD TO PROVE COVERAGE OR CONFIRM YOU ARE ELIGIBLE. YOUR DENTIST CAN EASILY VERIFY ELIGIBILITY AND PLAN INFORMATION VIA PHONE OR ONLINE WITH METLIFE DENTAL.~~

**CLEVELAND METROPOLITAN SCHOOL DISTRICT
Payroll Deductions (Bi-Monthly)**

Eff. ~~01/01/16~~ 1/1/18

CLEVELAND TEACHERS UNION	CALENDAR YEAR			
	Single – Wellness	Single – No Wellness	Family ² – Wellness	Family ² – No Wellness
Full Time Employees (assigned a minimum of 19 hours per week) ^{*1}				
Aetna	\$37.50 ³	\$37.41 \$50.00 ³	\$85.00 ³	\$85.00 \$110.00 ³
UHChoice	\$17.50	\$25.00	\$50.00	\$60.00
MMO-SuperMed Plus PPO	\$37.50 ³	\$37.18 \$50.00 ³	\$85.00 ³	\$85.00 \$110.00 ³
Basic Dental	\$ 0.00	\$ 0.00	\$ 0.00	\$ 0.00
Enhanced Dental	\$5.97 \$6.83		\$19.40 \$22.15	
Vision – Spectera United HealthCare Vision	\$0.00			

*1Qualifying eligibility hours are based on District approved assignments and hours. Review your collective bargaining agreement for specific coverage and eligibility rules.

²Working Spouse shall pay the following monthly surcharge for coverage as primary under any CMSD plan option: \$100.00 for the life of the contract (\$50.00 each bi-monthly payroll deduction).

³For Aetna and MMO coverage, at present the 2018 rates are unknown; the amounts in the chart represent the maximum amount that an employee could have deducted. Employees will pay 10% of the premium (COBRA equivalency), subject to the hard caps referenced above.

APPENDIX []

[Physician Certification Art. 29, Sec. 2]

Date _____

[Name and Address of
Independent Third Party]

To whom it may concern:

On _____, _____ successfully completed (1)
[Date of completion] [Individual's name]

biometric testing consisting of BMI, glucose, blood pressure and cholesterol testing and (2) a

health risk assessment.

[Name and address of Physician]

**APPENDIX T
MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING**

~~Development and Implementation of the Cleveland Differentiated Compensation System (CDCS)~~

[Replace current MOU on CDCS with the MOU below.]

In order to provide high quality professional development to Cleveland’s teachers and other educators, CTU will provide input and suggestions for professional development opportunities. In the 2016-2017 school year, teachers assigned to the Joint Governing Panel (JGP) will assist in the development and implementation of District-wide professional development. Prior to OPI-1 in the Spring of 2017, teachers assigned to the JGP will be identified for Necessary Transfer as outlined in Article 12, unless the CEO and CTU President mutually agree to continue this assignment. Should any member of the JGP be selected for another position, their position on the JGP will be eliminated.

Rationale: Allows the Joint Governing Panel a transition back to classroom positions.

**MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN
THE CLEVELAND METROPOLITAN SCHOOL DISTRICT AND
THE CLEVELAND TEACHERS UNION, AFT LOCAL 279, AFL-CIO
REGARDING 27 PAYS IN FISCAL YEARS 2016-17 AND 2017-18 AND THE TRANSITION
TO 24 PAYS**

This Memorandum of Understanding between the Cleveland Municipal School District (“District”) and the Cleveland Teachers Union, AFT Local 279, AFL-CIO (“CTU”) memorializes the District and the CTU’s shared commitment to a collaborative working relationship.

The District recognizes that all provisions in the Collective Bargaining Agreement between the District and the CTU in effect upon execution of this MOU, and future CBAs as ratified, as well as other binding agreements on the CTU and the District in the form of Memoranda of Understanding (hereinafter collectively “CBA”) shall remain in full force and effect.

Cleveland Teachers Union full time bargaining unit members are currently compensated each year in 26 equal installments. The 24th pay installment of the 2016-17 school year is presently scheduled to occur on June 30, 2017. This would constitute the 27th pay of the District’s 2016-17 fiscal year.

To prevent 27 pays in the District’s 2016-17 fiscal year, the parties agree to move the 24th pay installment of the 2016-17 school year from June 30, 2017 to July 1, 2017. In addition, to prevent 27 pays in the District’s 2017-18 fiscal year, the parties agree to move the 24th pay installment of the 2017-18 school year from June 29, 2018 to July 2, 2018.

Beginning in the summer of 2018, the District will transition all CTU bargaining unit members to 24 equal bi-monthly pays. Bargaining unit members will be paid on the 5th and the 20th of each month unless it is a weekend or a holiday in which case payment will occur on the preceding business day.

See attached calendar for pay dates for the next four (4) school years. These dates may be modified with mutual agreement.

In the event the transition cannot be implemented in the summer of 2018, the District is committed to working with CTU to ensure there is no more than a 3 week gap in pay until a 24 pay system can be implemented.

2016-2017 school year (20/26 equal installments)

Installment	Pay Day
1	Friday, August 19, 2016
2	Friday, August 26, 2016
3	Friday, Sept. 9, 2016
4	Friday, Sept. 23, 2016
5	Friday, Oct. 7, 2016
6	Friday, Oct. 21, 2016
7	Friday, Nov. 4, 2016
8	Friday, Nov. 18, 2016
9	Friday, Dec. 2, 2016
10	Friday, Dec. 16, 2016
11	Friday, Dec. 30, 2016
12	Friday, Jan. 13, 2017
13	Friday, Jan. 27, 2017
14	Friday, Feb. 10, 2017
15	Friday, Feb. 24, 2017
16	Friday, March 10, 2017
17	Friday, March 24, 2017
18	Friday, April 7, 2017
19	Friday, April 21, 2017
20	Friday, May 5, 2017
21	Friday, May 19, 2017
22	Friday, June 2, 2017
23	Friday, June 16, 2017
24	Saturday, July 1, 2017 <i>(if no MOU, would have been June 30)</i>
25	Friday, July 14, 2017
26	Friday, July 28, 2017

2017-2018 school year (20/26 equal installments)

Installment	Pay Day
--------------------	----------------

1	Friday, August 18, 2017	
2	Friday, August 25, 2017	
3	Friday, Sept. 8, 2017	
4	Friday, Sept. 22, 2017	
5	Friday, Oct. 6, 2017	
6	Friday, Oct. 20, 2017	
7	Friday, Nov. 3, 2017	
8	Friday, Nov. 17, 2017	
9	Friday, Dec. 1, 2017	
10	Friday, Dec. 15, 2017	
11	Friday, Dec. 29, 2017	
12	Friday, Jan. 12, 2018	
13	Friday, Jan. 26, 2018	
14	Friday, Feb. 9, 2018	
15	Friday, Feb. 23, 2018	
16	Friday, March 9, 2018	
17	Friday, March 23, 2018	
18	Friday, April 6, 2018	
19	Friday, April 20, 2018	
20	Friday, May 4, 2018	
21	Friday, May 18, 2018	
22	Friday, June 1, 2018	
23	Friday, June 15, 2018	
24	Monday, July 2, 2018	<i>(if no MOU, would have been June 29)</i>
25	Friday, July 20, 2018	<i>(if no MOU, would have been July 12)</i>
26	Friday, August 3, 2018	<i>(if no MOU, would have been July 26)</i>

2018-2019 school year (24 equal installments)

Installment	Pay Day
1	Monday, Aug 20, 2018
2	Wednesday, Sept. 5, 2018
3	Thursday, Sept. 20, 2018
4	Friday, Oct. 5, 2018
5	Friday, Oct. 19, 2018
6	Monday Nov. 5, 2018
7	Tuesday, Nov. 20, 2018
8	Wednesday, Dec. 5, 2018
9	Thursday, Dec. 20, 2018
10	Friday, Jan. 4, 2019
11	Friday, Jan. 18, 2019
12	Tuesday, Feb. 5, 2019
13	Wednesday, Feb. 20, 2019
14	Tuesday, March 5, 2019
15	Wednesday, March 20, 2019

16	Friday, April 5, 2019
17	Friday, April 19, 2019
18	Friday, May 3, 2019
19	Monday, May 20, 2019
20	Wednesday, June 5, 2019
21	Thursday, June 20, 2019
22	Friday, July 5, 2019
23	Friday, July 19, 2019
24	Monday, August 5, 2019

2019-2020 school year (24 equal installments)

Installment	Pay Day
1	Tuesday, Aug 20, 2019
2	Thursday, Sept. 5, 2019
3	Friday, Sept. 20, 2019
4	Friday, Oct. 4, 2019
5	Friday, Oct. 18, 2019
6	Tuesday, Nov. 5, 2019
7	Wednesday, Nov. 20, 2019
8	Thursday, Dec. 5, 2019
9	Friday, Dec. 20, 2019
10	Friday, Jan. 3, 2020
11	Friday, Jan. 17, 2020
12	Wednesday, Feb. 5, 2020
13	Thurs, Feb. 20, 2020
14	Thursday, March 5, 2020
15	Friday, March 20, 2020
16	Friday, April 3, 2020
17	Monday, April 20, 2020
18	Tuesday, May 5, 2020
19	Wednesday, May 20, 2020
20	Friday, June 5, 2020
21	Friday, June 19, 2020
22	Friday, July 3, 2020
23	Monday, July 20, 2020
24	Wednesday, August 5, 2020